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This Annual Report is dedicated to The Legal Aid Society's employees whose names are listed here.
Sarah Abdelmessih, Daniel Abdul-Malak, Charlene Abney, Anita Aboagye-Agyeman, Danielle Acker, Benjie Acunis, Arielle Adams, Lindsay Adams, Nakiyyah Adams, Vanessa Adegbite, Melissa Ader, Daniel Ades, Toyin
Adesina, Katherine Adler, David Affler, Ashley Agosto, Gabriella Agranat-Getz, Alena Aguilar, Jacqueline Ahearn, Bina Ahmad, Noor Ahmad, Zohra Ahmed, Paul Ahn, Diane Akerman, Akintunde Akinjiola, Shivani Alamo,
Fatima Albaine, Natalie Albert, Michael Alcarese, Myra Alcarese, Elizabeth Alcocer-Gonzalez, Rita Alejandro, Anju Alexander, Jean Alexandre, Gary Alexion, Ronald Alfano, Marianne Allegro, Melinda Allen, Zoe Allen, Steve
Alonso, Juan Alonzo, Charles Alvarez, Carla Alvarez-Gould, Chelsey Amelkin, Sharon Anderson, Tareek Anderson, Melinda Andra, Cheryl Andrada, Pamela Andrescavage, Kaitlin Andrews, Nefertiti Ankra, Carmine Annunziato,
Bahar Ansari, Kenneth Ansley, Odessa Antoine, Ikenna Anyoku, Ruth Appadoo-Johnson, Israel Appel, Rigodis Appling, Noha Arafa, Rumzi Araj, Violeta Arciniega, Jimmy Arias, Jonathan Arias, Tarini Arogyaswamy, Marisol
Arriaga, Jessica Arroyo, William Artus, Rachel Asher, Daniel Ashworth, Richard Asphall, Nicole Attara, Edward Auffant, Lynda Augente, Quincy Auger, Germaine Auguste, Laurie Auguste, Garrett Austin, Joseph Austin, Elenor
Austrie, Jesse Aviles, Ilana Avital, Alan Axelrod, Jose Ayala, Maria Ayora, Shahar Azoulay, Alisha Bacchus, Jaime Badia, Leslie Baez, Susan Bahn, Anya Bailey, Bartholomew Baily, Lejla Bajrami, Allison Baker, Japheth Baker,
Michael Baldwin, Vanda Ballard, Kelly Ballinger, Sunita Balwant, Marla Band, Erin Bannister, Michael Baptiste, Priscilla Barbot, Chennette Barreto, Eric Barreto, Elizabeth Barroso, Jessica Bash, Kip Bastedo, Patricia Bath,
Deyalyn Batista Rijo, Carlos Baxter, Lizzie-Anne Beal, Raymond Beauchamp, Sakeena Beaulieu, Marc Beck, Faith Bekermus, Kharis Belgrave, Valerie Bell-Bey, Christine Bella, Jessica Bellinder, Bernard Bellinger, Ruthlyn
Belnavis, Amanda Beltran, Zamir Ben-Dan, Elizabeth Bender, Joshua Benjamin, Fredric Bennett, Timothy Bennett, Michelle Benoit, Judyann Bentick, Victoria Benton, Allison Berger, Mark Berger, Juan Beritan, Steven Berko,
Jeffrey Berman, Jerrold Berman, Simone Berman-Rossi, James Bernal, Athena Bernkopf, Sara Bernstein, Shari Bernstein, Lillian Berrios, Samuel Berroa, Marvis Berry, Rebecca Besdin, Toni Beshara, Jennifer Betancourt,
Jessica Bettencourt, Pavel Beyder, Mary Bianco, Andrea Bible, Robert Bickel, Charles Billups, Nicole Bingham, Micheal Biornstad, Carly Bisceglie, Gina Bisogna, Bridgette Bissonnette, Elizabeth Black, Rachel Black, Shannon
Blackman, Charles Blakeley, Letticia Blakley, Faith Bland, Jennifer Blasser, Isaac Bloch, Anna Blondell, Anna Blondell, David Blondell, Martin Blondet, Evan Bloom, Jeffrey Bloom, Richard Blum, Joshua Blumenfeld, Sarah
Bodack, Marlen Bodden, Richard Bodrick, Anna Boksenbaum, Katherine Bolander, Thomas Bomba, Kanika Booker, David Boone, Dalya Bordman, Markus Borus, Heidi Bota, Norah Bowler, Laura Boyd, Precious Boyd, Katherine
Bradley, Heidi Bramson, Adrienne Branch, Jacqueline Braslow, Jenny Braun Friedman, Edward Braunstein, Bonnie Brennan, Kathleen Brennan, Jennifer Brillante-Weaver, Mitchell Briskey, Amanda Brito, Kissa Broadie,
Leslie Brody, Nicole Bromberg, J Brooks, Malia Brooks, Georgina Brown, Jasmine Brown, Karene Brown, Lisa Brown, Nathaniel Brown, Nickeysha Brown, Terrance Brown, Kristin Bruan, Aishah Bruno, Katherine Buckel,

Arthur Buckley, Brian Buckmire, Rosemary Buckmon, Robert Budner, Desiree Buenzle, Laura Bull,
Roulston Bumbury, Vanessa Burdick, Benjamin Burger, Kelsey Burgess, Regina Burgio, Carmen
Burgos, Jessica Burgos, Erin Burkavage, Jennifer Burke, Julia Burke, Jamaal Burnside, Thomas
Burrows, Katherine Burton, Helene Busby, Claudia Bustos, Yessica Bustos, Barbara Byrne, Luis
Caballero, Olivia Caban, Danny Cabrera, Mario Cabrera, Rosa Cabrera, Yissel Cabrera, Karen Cacace,
Keri Caden, Genevieve Cahill, Garrett Cain, Heidi Cain, Kristen Calabrese, Elisabeth Calcaterra,
Raisa Calderon, Matthew Caldwell, Ioana Calin, Anne Callagy, Jean Callahan, Glenda Callender,
Courtney Camp, Marion Campbell, Sonia Cancel, Josue Cantave, Clayton Capp, Catherine
Carbonaro, Matthew Caretto, Anna Carlsen, Alec Carmon, William Carney, Christian Carrillo, Joshua
Carrin, Mae Carrington, Roger Carrion, Nora S.C. Carroll, Amanda Carter, Carol Carter, Bernette

Carway-Spruiell, Marilyn Casiano, Iris Castellanos, Sabrina Castillo, Ana Castillo-Bernabel, Emilie Catlett, Teresa Caturano, Ana Cecilio, Yohance Celestine, Gordon Cen, Ferdinand Cesarano, Cara Chambers, Lorna Chan, Denise
Chardon, Richard Charney, Jonathan Chasan, Susan Chase, Abida Chaudhry, Steven Chavez, Jonathan Chazen, Devin Chee, Yamina Chekroun, Brian Chelcun, Hung Kong Cheng, Wai-Hong Cheng, Phyllis Cherebin, Vanessa
Cherena, Hillary Chernow, Andrea Cherry, Jenny Cheung, Rebecca Chevalier, Andrew Chi, Toe-Fun Chia, Mourad Chiadmi, Andrew Childers, Samuel Chiszar, Maria Chiu, Danielle Chorne, Jamie Chosak, James Chubinsky,
Jasmina Chuck, Javier Chuck, Vincent Ciaccio, Julie Ciccolini, Erica Cioffero, Marisol Cisneros, Rachel Clapp, Gregory Clarke, Lucinda Clarke, Nichole Clarke, Thomas Cleary, Charli Cleland, Olivia Clement, Susan Clement, Vilma
Clerge, Talisha Clermont, Samantha Clifford, Kawan Clinton, Bryan Coakley, Antonia Codling, Thomas Coffey, Janet Cofie, Dana Cohen, Emily Cohen, Matthew Cohen, Jennifer Cohn, Dylan Colbert, Patricia Colella, Carolyn
Coleman, Gregory Coleman, Rebekah Coleman, Alexander Collins, Esperanza Colon, Francisco Colon, Maria Colon, Joann Colon-Cimino, Nolan Comfort, Johari Commodore, Carlo Concha-Zea, Kalle Condliffe, David Conn,
Virginia Conroy, Cynthia Conti-Cook, Claudia Conway, Felton Cooper, Jayne Cooper, Gregory Copeland, Virginia Cora, Marisol Cordero, Melissa Cordero, Stephanie Cordero, Evelyn Cordova, Shemori Corinthian, Jeriline Correa,
Shelley Correy, Alyssa Cose-Primus, Jona Cosio, Antoinette Costanzo, Aiden Cotter, Jose Cotto, William Cotto, Safiatou Coulibaly, Tara Coury, Joyce Couvares, Jessica Crafton, Russell Crane, Daniela Crespo, Susan Crile, Ellen
Crotty, David Crow, Victor Cruz, Juanita Cruz-Cataquet, Gaynor Cunningham, Leeanne Cunningham, Meghan Cuomo, Lauren Curatolo, Seth Curkin, Aurora Curtis, Thomas Curtis, Michael D'Ambrosio, Maria D'Amelio, Nicole
D'Orazio, Esmeralda Daci, Sharon Dacosta, Marjan Daftary, Lawrence Dahl, Mark Dahm, Amy Dallas, Casey Dalporto, Teresa Daly, Olayinka Dan-Salami, Asmika Dangol, Dawn Dapelo, Erin Darcy, Clineesa Dargan, Alaina Dartt,
Tamina Daruvala, Kwesi Dash, Shashwat Dave, Nicki Davey, Dilsa David, Jacques David, Ellen Davidson, Jeremy Davidson, Rachel Davidson, Terence Davidson, Edgar Davila, Nora Davila, Patricia Davis, Yasmin Davis, Teresa De
Fonso, Adrian De Gennaro, Jason De Jesus, Melissa De Jesus, Nelson De Jesus, Tania De La Cruz, Susanna De La Pava, Jennys De La Rosa, Khadine De Paiva, Katherine De Zengotita, Daniel DeStefano, Warren Deans, Melanie
Dearth, Natalie Deduke, Gerard Deenihan, Lina Del Plato, Carmen Del Valle, Stanley Delacruz, Amy Delauter, Christine Dell'isloa-Ruggiero, Benjamin Dell, Mark DellAquila, Jeffrey Dellheim, Sandy Delouis, Lonette Dennard-
Williams, Karena Dennis, George Depountis, Robert Desir, Godline Deterville, Sneha Dhanapal, Richard Di Marco, Ada DiCarlo, Deborah Diamant, Jesse Diamond, Patricia Diaz, Samantha Diaz, Yonoris Diaz, Laurel Dick, Jill
Dickinson, Claudia Diez, Yvonne Dillard, Ellen Dille, Clay Distler, Femi Disu-Oakley, Anton Ditchev, Celena Ditchev, Brittany Dixon, Vernon Dixon, Lucretia Dobson, Sarah Dolan, Natalya Dolub, Jacqueline Dombroff, Michelle
Domena, Madeline Domenech, Julie Dona, Mary Donahue, Lisa Donchak, Lauren Donnelly, Amy Donner, Francis Donovan, Melodie Donovan, Ian Dooley, Zachary Dorado, Patricia Dornelles, Cassandra Dorvil, Roxanne Douby,
Felicia Douglas, Kisha Douglas, Lisa Dowda, Hilary Dowling, Brooke Drew, Elaine Ducasse, Monica Dula, Marisol Duran, Jacek Dziembaj, LeShawn Earl, Tristan-Paul Eastman, Emily Eaton, Alanda Edwards, Lisa Edwards,
Marcia Egger, Charles Ehlers, Felicia Ehrlich, Kerry Elgarten, Whitney Elliott, Julia Elmaleh-Sachs, Claudia Emanuel, Uchenna Emeagwali, Theresa Emeterio, Elizabeth Emmons, Susan Epstein, Jana Ertrachter, Brian Escaravage,
Lourdes Escobar, Rosemary Esperanza-Alvarez, Cristian Espinal, Mitchell Paolo Esteller, Rudolph Estrada, Juan Estremera, Belinda Etienne, Sarah Evans-DeVita, Dwan Ewell, Denise Fabiano, Forabo Fagbulu, Morenike Fajana,
Allen Fallek, Tara Famularo-Del Bianco, Karen Faraguna, Allen Farbman, Anthony Farley, Emily Farquharson, Lisa Farray, Trelinda Farrer, Sean Farrow, Briana Fedele, Elysia Fedorczyk, Martin Feinman, Adam Felber, Elizabeth
Felber, Harold Ferguson, Graciela Fernandez, Sheilah Fernandez, Joan Ferng, Andrea Ferrante, Ana Ferrin, Craig Fielding, Leanne Fields, Stephanie Fields, Michael Figura, Japel Filiaci, Marisa Filupeit, Andrew Fine, Oscar
Finkel, Kenneth Finkelman, Joseph Fiore, Sofia Fiorentino, Cheryl Fisher, Katherine Fitzer, Andrea Fiume, Mae Flato, Phillip Fleary, Golda Fleischman, Vera Fletcher, Elisa Flight, Husein Flight, Aaron Flores, Diana Flores, Doris
Flores, Josephine Flores, Richard Flores, Yvonne Floyd-Mayers, Alexis Flyer, Megan Foley, Edna Fonfrias, Zoraida Fontanez, Andrew Ford, Jacqueline Ford, Hamilton Forde, Jasmine Foreman, Janet Forrester, Kimberly Forte,
Izel Fortunato, Ebette Fortune, Natasha Fortune, Omar Fortune, Allan Fox, Jane Fox, Michelle Fox, Norma Frade, Brittany Francis, Grover Francis, Keisha Francis, Christina Francois, Robin Frankel, Diane Fraticelly, Angel Frau,
Demetra Frazier, Jeremy Fredericksen, Lisa Freeman, Diego Freire, Helen Frieder, Oda Friedheim, Bruce Friedman, David Friedman, Melissa Friedman, David Fritz, Julie Fry, Lenore Furlong, Michael Fusilli, Angel Gabriel,
George Gabriel, Allison Galgano, Frances Gallagher, Spencer Gallop, Mona Gambardella, Debra Gambella, Taylor Gamble, Alyssa Gamliel, Romy Ganschow, Adrienne Gantt, Lillian Gantt, Amanda Garay, Belkys Garcia, Felipe
Garcia, Harinda Garcia, Jessica Garcia, Juan Garcia, Laureen Garcia, Maria Garcia, Mily Garcia, Jonathan Garelick, Melvin Garlick, Margaret Garrett, Jennai Gaskin, Samuel Gauthier, Sekeena Gavagan, Findayawah Gbollie,
Gail Geltman, Melissa George, Ulex George, Diego Gerardi, Carmen Gerardo, Debbora Gerressu, Samuel Getz, Francis Gibbons, Michael Gibbons, William Gibney, Julia Gilgurd, Sarah Gillman, Nancy Ginsburg, Ernest Giordani,
Celia Givens, Monica Givens, Tamara Giwa, Pashke Gjini, Hannah Gladstein, Zoe Glaser, Alana Glaubiger, Radley Glaude, Caroline Glickler, Charles Glover, Michael Gluck, Steven Godeski, Keisha Godfrey, Yesenia Godoy, Lily
Goetz, Benjamin Gold, Bonnie Goldburg, Steven Golden, Joshua Goldfein, Judith Goldiner, Ariella Goldstein, Cathy Goldstein, Jacob Goldstein, Jessica Goldthwaite, Chandra Gomes, Michael Gompers, Aurea Gonzalez,
Rolando Gonzalez, Emma Goodman, Jaclyn Goodman, Roberto Goodsell, Robin Gordon Leavitt, Alan Gordon, Derick Gordon, Ramona Gordon, Tiffany Gordon, Martin Gorfinkel, Lauren Gottesman, Maxwell Gould, Jenna
Goulder, Vincent Graci, Holly Graham, Maya Graham, JaQuan Grandy, Anthony Graniere, Herbert Grant, Sulay Grant, James Graves, Jerome Greco, Marshall Green, Daniel Greenbaum, Camille Greene, Naima Gregory-Holder,
Dana Grierson, Catherine Griffin, Shannon Griffin, Pamela Griffith, Seth Gross, Gerald Grossman, Jennifer Grosso, Nidia Guadalupe, Yoedys Guerrero Valero, David Guerrero, Nailah Gumbs-Fahie, Yosha Gunasekera, Samantha
Gupta, Laurence Gurwitch, Karen Gutheil, Clinton Guthrie, Laura Guthrie, Monica Gutierrez, Donna Haase, Joshua Hadas, Jason Hadley, Melissa Hafenbrack, William Hair, Juliette-Noor Haji, Hanifa Hakim-EL, Larry Hales,
Reginald Haley, Madeline Halimi, Coleen Hall, Karen Hamberlin, Tima Hambleton, Karen Hambrick, Alayasia Hamilton, Barbara Hamilton, Shahidah Hamlett, Matthew Hanifin, Michael Harding, Kathleen Hardy, Megan
Harney, Robert Harold, Elon Harpaz, Donjhannae Harris, Judith Harris, Alissa Harrison, Caitlin Harrison, Peter Hart, Jacqualine Hartley, Lisa Hartley, Bryn Hartman, Mallory Harwood, Nadia Hasan, Evan Hasbrook, Redmond
Haskins, Amira Hassan, Jo-Ann Hassan, Adam Hassuk, Allison Haupt, Michele Hauser, Amy Hausknecht, Lawrence Hausman, Matthew Hawkins, Wanjuri Hawkins, Henry Hayden, Oren Haymovits, Renee Haynes, Robert
Haywood, Lauren Headley, Christopher Healy, Mattie Heath, Kathryn Heeke, Robert Heilbrun, Alexandra Heinegg, Rebecca Heinsen, Lester Helfman, Charles Henderson, Donna Henken, Marva Henry, Maoly Hernandez
Rosario, Alba Hernandez, Ariel Hernandez, Luis Hernandez, Sordaly Hernandez, Wilmarie Hernandez, Lucy Herschel, Nikki Herst-Cook, Michael Higgins, Eric Hildebrand, Kwandza Hill-Daniels, Angela Hines, Shazzia Hines,
Kevin Hinkson, John Hirsch, Nell Hirschmann-Levy, Barbara Ho, Yvonne Hobbs, Carol Hochberg, Fuery Hocking, Emily Hoffman, Beth Hofmeister, Adriene Holder, Macon Hollister, Jacqueline Holmes, Linda Holmes, Deno
Holness, Alison Holstein, Michael Homan-Gray, Amy Hong, Everett Hopkins, Matthew Hopkins, Arthur Hopkirk, Albert Hor, Jacqueline Horani, Davim Horowitz, Gwyneth Horton, Susan Horwitz, Jennifer Hose, Imtiaz Hossain,
Shalena Howard, Samuel Howell, Mary Hoynacki, Charmaine Hoyte, Natasha Hrynenko, Daniel Hsiung, Caroline Hsu, Yvonne Huaringa, Tyler Hudgins, Nyiesha Hudson, Clinton Hughes, Kevin Hughes, Patience Hughes,
Michael Hurson, Jenny Hurwitz, Katharine Hussung, David Hymen, Amanda Ingle, Natasha Ingram, Gregory Insardi, Vivian Intermont, Charles Ippolito, Yolanda Irizarry, Celia Irvine, Brittany Irving, Elizabeth Isaacs, Svetlana
Isakov, Kenneth Ives, Rebecca Ivry, Richard Jack, Lisa Jackson, Lois Jackson, Rosemarie Jackson, Alex Jacobs, Michelle Jacobs, Rosa Jaffe, Kesha Jagdeo, Seymour James Jr., Anika James, Taylor James, Mike Jang, Masooma
Javaid, Maride Javier, Christina Jeffery, Cornelius Jeffery, Patricia Jeffery, Lance Jeffrey, Willoughby Jenett, Amanda Jennings, Robert Jereski, Randy Jerez, Kam Jim, Eartha Jn Baptiste, Sunny Jo, Clyde Johnson, Jamal Johnson,
Loretta Johnson, Marquita Johnson, Nadine Johnson, Nesta Johnson, Tajuana Johnson, Thomas Johnson, Travis Johnson, Diane Johnston, Gregory Johnston, Sarah Johnston, Donovan Jones, LaSalle Jones, Peter Jones,
Willie Jones, Kelsey Jorgensen, Richard Joselson, Gina Joseph, Jennifer Joseph, Satish Joseph, Melissa Josephson, Maria Joza, Afeisha Julien, Steven Jurash, Siri Kagan, Douglas Kahan, Rachel Kahn, Maria Kaidas, Karen
Kalikow, John Kalinowski, Anna Kalliagas, Carolyn Kalos, James Kampil, Melissa Kanas, Sandeep Kandhari, Benjamin Kanstroom, Aylese Kanze, Asher Kaplan, Emily Kaplan, Hannah Kaplan, Jan Kaplan, Kathryn Kaplan,
Melissa Kaplan, Stephanie Kaplan, David Kapner, Robin Karasyk, Sheryl Karp, Judith Karpatkin, Dena Kasendorf, Andrew Katz, Mitchell Katz, Lauren Katzman, Zachary Katznelson, Kathleen Kavanagh, Rebecca Kavanagh,
Noel Keating, Kathleen Kelleher, Maureen Kelleher, Robert Kellogg, Brian Kelly, Diane Kelly, Maryann Kenney, Melvin Kenny, Sarah Kerr, Eve Kessler, Kawsar Khan, Sabina Khan, Saleem Khan, Sohani Khan, Leena Khandwala,

More than 1,200 lawyers work with 750 social
workers, investigators, paralegals and support
and administrative staff.
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1THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

Proudly serving New Yorkers
in all five boroughs of New York City.

The nation’s oldest and largest not-for-profit legal services organization is more than a
law firm for poor New Yorkers.  It is an indispensable component of the legal, social,
and economic fabric of New York City – passionately advocating for low-income

individuals and families across a variety of civil, criminal and juvenile rights matters, while
also fighting for legal reform.

The Legal Aid Society has performed this role in City, State and federal courts since 1876.  It
does so by harnessing the diverse expertise, experience, and capabilities of nearly 1,200
lawyers and approximately 750 social workers, investigators, paralegals and support and
administrative staff.  Through a network of borough, neighborhood, and courthouse offices
in 27 locations in New York City, the Society provides comprehensive legal services in all five
boroughs of New York City for clients who cannot afford to pay for private counsel.  The
Society’s legal program operates three major practices – Civil, Criminal and Juvenile Rights –
and receives volunteer help from law firms, corporate law departments and expert
consultants that is coordinated by the Society’s Pro Bono program.  Annually, the Society
handles more than 300,000 cases and legal matters for clients with civil, criminal, and
juvenile rights problems.  The Legal Aid Society takes on more cases for more clients than
any other legal services organization in the United States.  And it brings a depth and breadth
of perspective that is unmatched in the legal profession.

The Legal Aid Society’s unique value is an ability to go beyond any one case to create more
equitable outcomes for individuals and broader, more powerful systemic change for society
as a whole.  In addition to the annual caseload of more than 300,000 individual cases and
legal matters, the Society’s law reform work benefits some two million low-income families
and individuals in New York City and the landmark rulings in many of these cases have a
Statewide and national impact.
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2 THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

Iam immensely proud of the
members of the Staff of The
Legal Aid Society as they exhibit

a steadfast diligence every day in
the courtrooms and communities
in all five boroughs of New York
City, representing the men, women
and children who need help.  Never
has their work been more
important.  At the same time, I have
always thought of the women and
men of The Legal Aid Society as

being the legal profession’s first responders, a tremendous
attribute of this great institution and a major source of pride
for me as the Chairman of the Board.

Against all odds, The Legal Aid Society’s first responders have
saved homes, secured essential medical benefits and food, kept
families together, and saved lives.  And they have done so for
more than 140 years.

Staff immediately traveled to JFK Airport in January in response
to the Executive Orders on immigration issued by the White
House excluding individuals from seven countries. Other Staff
went directly to Livingston Street in Brooklyn to the Legal Aid
office to prepare writs for federal court. Leadership in the Civil
and Criminal Defense Practices were devising plans for a round
the clock hotline to aid immigrants. Within 24 hours, they
achieved their goal and staff in the Community Justice Unit
staffed the hotline. And, most important, we prevented the
unwarranted removal of a number of immigrants. This kind of
immediate response to crisis is standard operating procedure
for our Staff.

Immediately following the devastation brought on by
Hurricane Sandy, members of the Legal Aid Staff were in Coney
Island, Rockaways, and Staten Island, helping people with FEMA
applications and securing needed benefits and shelter. In doing
so, many ignored their own personal problems to help our
clients. 

After the terrorists’ attacks on the World Trade Center, our Staff
spent hours each day at FEMA’s downtown Manhattan
headquarters assisting people with immigration issues,
securing benefits for citizen children so entire families could
have enough resources for food and shelter, and providing on
the spot legal assistance.  Our Staff worked in temporary space
with the fate of their own offices across the street from the
World Trade Center site very much in doubt.  

Indeed, as far back at the early 1900s, our Staff rescued sailors
from foreign countries who were kidnapped and sold to ship
captains in New York harbor.  Staff from The Legal Aid Society’s
Seaman’s Branch spent days and nights in rowboats circling
Manhattan, assisting seamen who were being captured.
Through the Society’s efforts, legislation was enacted by
Congress providing for better protection of seafaring men.

Our Staff continues to respond to the fears and needs of
immigrant client communities by offering a series of
informational forums throughout the five boroughs as well as
by representing individual clients. In response to increased

demand for immigration services we have secured the
assistance of 25 law firms.

Special thanks to our dedicated Staff for the outstanding work
they do.  We dedicate this annual report to them and their
names can be found on the inside covers.  Seymour W. James,
our Attorney-in-Chief,  the Practice heads, Adriene Holder
(Civil), Tina Luongo (Criminal Defense), Tami Steckler (Juvenile
Rights) and Louis Sartori, Director of our Pro Bono Program
which is the largest in the country, provide the excellent
leadership that makes these accomplishments possible.  Tami
is being succeeded by Dawne Mitchell as she assumes her new
position as the Chief Operating Officer.  This position is one of
the important steps in implementing the strategic plan we
announced last year.

Seymour has announced that he will retire in June.  We are all
extremely grateful to him for his outstanding service to The
Legal Aid Society and its clients over a 43-year career.  Much has
been accomplished.  Through his years of service he has helped
put us on a strong path for the future.  

We are blessed with the incredible support of our Sustaining
Law Firms who not only provide funds for our Civil Practice,
but also stand side by side with our Staff as partners in
responding to the needs of our clients.  During Sandy recovery,
for example, Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP joined in litigation
to keep hundreds of families who were Sandy evacuees in
hotels until permanent housing could be found.  Gibson Dunn
& Crutcher joined the Society in challenging failure to provide
necessary access and accommodations for Sandy survivors to
apply for disaster relief food stamp benefits. Within a few days
of the launching of the 24-hour hotline for immigrants, seven
law firms took over the task.  We recognize the seven firms
who provide this exhaustive assistance that established the
model for responding to legal crises in the future.  They are:
Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP; Davis Polk & Wardwell
LLP; Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP; Proskauer
Rose LLP; Shearman & Sterling LLP; Simpson Thacher &
Bartlett LLP; and Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP.

Members of our Board of Directors are drawn from the most
prominent law firms, corporate law departments and auditing
firms, and law schools.  Special thanks to the Chairs of the
various Board committees including Charles Weinstein (Audit);
Daniel F. Kolb (Development); Douglas F. Curtis (Finance and
Investment); Thomas M. Cerabino (Nominating and
Governance); Noah Hanft (Practice Support); Bradley I. Ruskin
(Real Estate); Mark P. Goodman (Retirement and Benefits); and
Randy Mastro (Strategic Planning and Communications).

No report would be complete without a mention of our
beloved President, Fin Fogg.  He has been a major force in
keeping The Legal Aid Society on a strong financial footing.
“We only spend what we have,” are words he states at just
about every meeting of our Executive and Finance Committees.
He has also rewritten the book on fund raising.  We are indeed
fortunate to benefit from his wisdom, his great humor, and his
enormous, generous spirit.

Richard J. Davis
Chairman

REPORT OF THE CHAIRPERSON
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REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT

We had another great year
at The Legal Aid Society.
We successfully met the

challenges of today and strategically
planned for the future as one of New
York City’s major not for profits.

Our esteemed Attorney-in-Chief,
Seymour W. James, has announ-
ced that he will retire in June after
43 years of dedicated service to
The Legal Aid Society.  Much has

been accomplished during his tenure and he will leave The
Legal Aid Society in a very strong position.  

Seymour has devoted his entire legal career to  defending and
advocating for the rights of marginalized and vulnerable New
Yorkers and fighting passionately to ensure they receive equal
justice which is their Constitutional right.  A  leader of the
organized Bar and a Past President of the New York State Bar
Association, his dedication to public service extends beyond
his role at The Legal Aid Society and his numerous bar
association activities.

He began his career at The Legal Aid Society in 1974 as a staff
attorney in the Brooklyn Office and has served in various
supervisory capacities.  Seymour was the first attorney of
color appointed as the Attorney-in-Charge of the Criminal
Practice, the largest public defender organization in the
country.  In the 10 years he served as the Attorney-in-Charge
of the Criminal Practice, the Practice earned a national
reputation for excellence.  When he became the Attorney-in-
Chief, Seymour urged the Board to consider the creation of a
strategic plan which we have begun to implement.  It will
provide a blue print for the future.  

Implementing our five-year strategic plan, we  have made a
major change internally with the appointment of Tami
Steckler as the Chief Operating Officer.  Tami has served with
distinction as the Attorney-in-Charge of our Juvenile Rights
Practice.  Dawne Mitchell, the Attorney-in-Charge of our
Bronx Juvenile Office, will succeed Tami.  Special thanks to
Practice heads Tina Luongo (Criminal Defense) and Adriene
Holder (Civil) for their outstanding work. 

We are extremely proud that our Juvenile Rights Practice
received the prestigious 2017 Congressional Angels Award for
its excellence in the provision of direct legal representation
to more than 30,000 children annually, for its appellate
victories creating and changing laws that affect children
locally and nationally, and for its success in changing or
creating policies for the betterment of children’s lives.  United
States Senator Kirsten Gillibrand nominated JRP for this
coveted award.

The Criminal Defense Practice worked closely with members
of the New York City Council on a series of bills that would
improve bail posting procedures, analyze the issue of ICE
officers removing immigrant New Yorkers from our Courts,

and the need for increased accountability and transparency
of the New York City Police Department.

Our Civil Practice successfully advocated for the universal
access legislation that will permit more poor New York City
families to remain in their homes. We pressed hard for
legislation to protect our vulnerable families from landlord
harassment and wrongful evictions.   Our Civil and Criminal
Practices have responded immediately to Executive Orders
from the White House which threaten the detention and
deportation of our immigrant clients and tear apart families.

We are blessed with an exceptional Board of Directors led by
Rich Davis, our Chairperson. We will honor Rich as the
recipient of the 2018 Servant of Justice Award along with
Herb Sturz.  Rich has played an essential role at The Legal Aid
Society for many years.  During the restructuring, Rich was a
major architect of the plan to save the Society, working
quietly behind the scenes.

Each year, I have the privilege of announcing the recipients of
the Orison S. Marden Awards, presented each year to
members of the Legal Aid staff to recognize their excellent
service and commitment.  The awards honor Orison S.
Marden who dedicated his life to helping others and served
as Chairman of the Society for many years.  The 2017 winners
were chosen by their colleagues from among many
nominations.

The recipient of the 2017 Marden Award for Management
Attorneys is Dodd Terry, the Attorney-in-Charge of the
Manhattan office of JRP.  Natasha Ingram, a Staff Attorney in
the Bronx Civil Practice, is the winner of the Staff Attorney
Award.  Jasmina Chuck, a Paralegal in the LGBT Law and Policy
Initiative, is the recipient of the Support Staff Award and
Lauren Headley, an Administrator in the Manhattan Criminal
Defense Office, is the winner of the Marden Award for non-
Attorney managers.  Stephen Somerstein, a Staff Attorney in
the Brooklyn CDP office, will receive the award posthumously. 

Last year, Sandra Scott, who served as the Chief Financial
Officer, passed away. Her courage, integrity, and dedication
serve as her lasting legacy.  In her memory, the Sandra Scott
Memorial Award for Excellence was created to recognize the
dedication and outstanding achievement of our non-lawyer
Central Administration staff.  The 2017 award will be
presented to Jose Tapias, Accounts Payable Coordinator in the
Finance Department.

Congratulations to the winners.  We are grateful for your
dedication to The Legal Aid Society and its clients.

The Legal Aid Society will continue to tenaciously defend and
passionately advocate for the rights of the poor and powerless—
working to find new ways to ensure they receive the equal
protections and justice that are their Constitutional right. 

Fin Fogg
President
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Members are drawn from the most prominent law firms,
corporate law departments and auditing firms, and law
schools in the nation.
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The Best of Lawyers and of Men
Seymour W. James, a respected leader in the justice system and an internationally recognized expert in indigent
defense, has announced that he will retire in June as the Attorney-in-Chief of The Legal Aid Society.

Seymour has spent his entire legal career of 43 years in public service at The Legal Aid Society. Beginning as a Criminal
Defense Staff Attorney in 1974, Seymour rose in the organization, serving in various supervisory capacities including
Supervising Attorney in the Bronx County office of CDP; Deputy Attorney-in-Charge of the Kings County and Queens
County CDP offices and Attorney-in-Charge of the Queens County office of CDP.  He served as the Attorney-in-Charge
of the Criminal Defense Practice for 10 years, the first attorney of color appointed to the position, and earned the
Practice a national reputation. 

The announcement of his retirement to Staff was an example of his humility.  Seymour wrote: “I know that our ability to
provide high quality  representation to our clients is, in large part, due to the efforts of you.  I thank you for the talent,
dedication and professionalism you exhibit every day.  You perform your jobs exceptionally well, often under very difficult
circumstances, and I want you to know that I am enormously grateful for everything that you do. . . I hope in some small
way my work has helped to inspire you and reinforce the values I believe brought each of you to The Legal Aid Society: a
desire to make sure our clients receive due process and equal justice and improve the quality of their lives.”

A leader of the organized Bar and a Past President of the New York State Bar Association, Seymour’s dedication to
public service extends beyond his role at the Society and his numerous bar association activities.  He has served and
currently serves on some of the most important commissions on a City and State level. He has been honored by
numerous organizations and law student groups for his leadership and commitment to equal justice.  He is also the
recipient of several lifetime achievement awards.

Most recently, at The Legal Aid Society’s celebration of 50 years of legal service to the people of Queens,  Seymour’s
successful endeavors in strengthening relationships with community and social justice organizations was noted by
Queens Borough President Melinda Katz when she praised him for his work as the head of the Queens office, as the
head of the Criminal Defense Practice, and as the head of The Legal Aid Society.  The Honorable Joseph Zayas,
Administrative Judge for Criminal Matters, Queens County Supreme Court, recalled when he was a young staff attorney
and was assigned to Queens when Seymour was the Attorney-in-Charge. Judge Zayas said his excellent training and
supervision put him at the solid path for a career as a lawyer and as a judge.

SEYMOUR W. JAMES, JR.

As The Legal Aid Society celebrated 50 years of service to Queens, proclamations declaring November 9, 2017 as The
Legal Aid Society Day were presented from the Governor, the Mayor, the Public Advocate and Queens Borough
President Melina Katz.  (from left) Seymour W. James, Attorney-in-Chief; Carolyn Silvers, Attorney-in-Charge of Queens
JRP; Richard J. Davis, Chairman of the Board; Timothy Rountree, Attorney-in-Charge of the Queens CDP office; Borough
President Katz; Blaine (Fin) Fogg, President; Sateesh Nori, Attorney-in-Charge of the Queens Neighborhood Office; Hersh
Parekh, Governor Cuomo's Queens Regional Representative; and Stacey Eliuk, Outreach Coordinator for public Advocate
Letitia James.  Missing from the photograph is Nick Gulotta, Queens Borough Director of the Community Affairs Unit of
the Office of the Mayor.
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REPORT OF THE ATTORNEY-IN-CHIEF

When I joined The Legal
Aid Society in 1974, for
what was to be a

career spanning four decades,
times were difficult. Caseloads
were overwhelming in the
criminal, civil, and juvenile rights
areas.  Even worse, there simply
was not sufficient funding to
hire enough lawyers to handle
criminal appeals and the Civil

Division was in danger of closing its Chelsea office.  The
City was on the verge of bankruptcy.  

I was intent on providing the highest quality
representation to the clients assigned to me, and making
a difference in their lives.  I had that opportunity in my role
as a Staff Attorney.  Over the years, I tried to achieve my
initial objective for a broader group of clients in each
successive role I held at The Legal Aid Society. Now, after
43 enriching and rewarding years, as I plan to retire in
June, I look back with a sense of pride and great
appreciation for what has been accomplished.  The Legal
Aid Society now includes a staff of nearly 2000.
Legislation requiring that caseloads in criminal and child
protective proceedings be limited has enabled us to add
staff and has enhanced our ability to provide high quality
representation to our clients. Special thanks to Davis, Polk
& Wardwell and to Dan Kolb, senior counsel at the firm
and a Vice Chair of the Society, for working with us over
the years to provide the analysis that was necessary to
improve standards.  Ratios of social workers and
investigators in the Criminal Defense Practice continue to
improve because of their work. 

When I was appointed the Attorney-in-Charge of the
Queens Criminal Defense Office, Archibald R. Murray, the
Attorney-in-Chief at the time, asked me to share my
thoughts on working at The Legal Aid Society with law
students. What is as true today as it was then, the Society
"provides the unique opportunity of engaging in public
service while working in a quality litigation
office...providing supervision and training needed to
become a first rate attorney."

In the variety of positions I have held, I have had the
privilege of working with some of the most talented and
dedicated professionals in the country.   Every day, our staff
performs their jobs exceptionally well, often under very
difficult circumstances.  Their devotion to our clients and
dedication to our mission to ensure that no one is denied
access to justice because of poverty, has continually
inspired me during the past 43 years.  It has been an
exhilarating experience working with them and learning
from them. Together we have not only helped hundreds
of thousands of people confronted with some of life's

most difficult challenges by addressing their needs and
improving their lives, but we have also made the legal
system fairer and more just.

During my tenure as Attorney-in-Chief, The Legal Aid
Society took a lead role in the representation of
unaccompanied immigrant children who fled abuse and
violence in their homeland; increased outreach to
communities through the Community Justice Unit; fought
for the rights of mentally disabled New Yorkers facing
eviction; successfully defended the rights of mentally ill
parolees who are unable to assist in their defense; fought
for greater transparency and accountability in the NYC
Police Department;  obtained the exoneration  of clients
wrongly convicted decades ago; won criminal cases with
DNA and Digital Forensics Units using cutting-edge
research and analysis; won a landmark victory removing
barriers on necessary healthcare for transgender youth
and adults;  advocated for the New York Immigrant Family
Unity Project to defend New Yorkers from unjust
detention and deportation; in response to Executive
Orders on immigration prevented unlawful deportations
of immigrants at Kennedy Airport, created a 24-hour
hotline to inform immigrants and their families of their
rights, and assisted immigrant clients at Know Your Rights
sessions city-wide; continued its advocacy to assist
inmates, including obtaining a landmark consent decree
to reduce abuse of prisoners at Rikers Island,; fought
against landlord harassment of tenants; and helped
persuade the City to establish universal access to an
attorney in Housing Court.

A diverse staff enriches our work experience, broadens the
perspectives we need to address issues of representation
and enables us to more effectively connect with our clients.
As part of our commitment to continuing to enhance
diversity and recruitment, I appointed Femi Disu-Oakley as
the Director of Diversity and Inclusion and Bharati
Naramanchi as the Director of Recruitment. Their work will
further improve the quality of our representation.

I want to thank Richard J. Davis, our Chairman, and Blaine
(Fin) Fogg, our President for their commitment to our
cause of equal justice and their guidance and assistance.

During my retirement, I will not give up the practice of
law.  I am looking forward to spending more time with my
family and pursuing interests that I have not had the time
to explore. I will, however, miss the staff which toils
tirelessly to make a difference in clients’ lives and I shall
watch with great pride and admiration as The Legal Aid
Society continues to protect, defend, and advocate for the
rights of vulnerable New Yorkers.

Seymour W. James, Jr.
Attorney-in-Chief
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DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

We are pleased to announce that in June 2017, Femi Disu-Oakley was appointed as our
Director of Diversity and Inclusion, an important  part of our senior leadership team.
This newly created role is part of the Society’s strategic plan and is a call for enhanced

diversity and inclusion for our staff. This pivotal step reflects our continuing commitment to
celebrating each other’s differences, while creating and maintaining a respectful and affirming
workplace environment. Such an environment ultimately enriches our work experiences and
enables us to more effectively connect with the diverse communities that we serve.

As follow up to our previous “Anti-bias” training, which allowed our staff to engage in meaningful
and productive conversations about implicit bias and stereotypes, we have advanced our
commitment to diversity by providing “Interrupting Bias” training for management. This recent

training was designed to help supervisors identify implicit bias and microagressions and provide them with the tools to
step in and interrupt those biases in real time. We will continue to develop and coordinate educational opportunities for
the organization to enhance our cultural competency goals and to foster healthy dialogue about diversity issues.  Our
commitment to diversity training and education is not limited to our internal organization. We continuously engage in
panel discussions, trainings and speaking engagements within the larger legal community to discuss diversity and racial
and social equity issues.

In order to maintain a sustainable diverse workplace, partnership and collaboration is vital. The Society’s management
team works closely with our union’s Association of Legal Aid Attorneys and 1199 SEIU. Several caucuses within those unions
have helped to identify and address our various diversity needs. The Attorneys of Color at Legal Aid, The Black Attorneys of
Legal Aid, and The LGBT caucuses are groups within our organization that help to ensure that our staff have a voice in the
shaping of workplace culture. Through these important partnerships, we collaborate on various diversity initiatives in areas
such as recruitment, retention and promotion of diverse employees. The Legal Aid Society proudly co-hosts various diversity
networking and mentoring events and programs to attract applicants of color and members of the LGBTQ+ communities
to our organization.

In the past year we have celebrated and recognized various cultures through our Heritage Month celebrations and
community involvement in Pride Month and the West Indian Day parade. Our Heritage Month celebrations have included
staff and external speakers on issues related to the individuals’ heritage.  We have also developed a “Diversity Digest” which
ensures that our staff receives regular
information highlighting our diversity
and inclusion achievements and
events. It also informs staff about
external opportunities for training
and dialogue that may heighten our
ability to enhance our own diversity
and inclusion.

The Legal Aid Society is excited to
continue our advancements in the
diversity and inclusion arena. We
strive to become leaders and
champions for change for the
betterment of our organization and
the clients we serve.

The Shriver Center’s Racial Justice Training Institute

A team from The Legal Aid Society was accepted into The Shriver Center's Racial Justice Training Institute, a
groundbreaking national leadership program that offers a transformative experience to build and fortify agents for
change. The LAS team spent 6 months learning RJTI's model which puts race front and center in the fight for equal justice.
The team learned how to address the impact of structural racialization in housing, education, employment, healthcare,
and more, and ensure that race is considered foremost in our efforts to eradicate poverty in the communities we serve.

Tami Steckler (from left), the former Attorney-in-Charge of the Juvenile Rights Practice
and now Chief Operating Officer;  Adriene Holder, the Attorney-in-Charge of the Civil
Practice; and Tina Luongo, the Attorney-in-Charge of the Criminal Defense Practice, talk
to law students at The Legal Aid Society’s 5th Diversity Open House at Debevoise &
Plimpton LLP.
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The Civil Practice has
completed a third year of
significant growth, largely

due to commitments from the
City to support New Yorkers
facing eviction or the threat of
deportation due to lack of
status.  An increase of more
than 100 staff has brought with
it incredible opportunities to
serve New Yorkers as well as
new fundraising challenges to

keep up with increased operational costs. While the
Civil Practice is now larger than the entire Society was
three and a half decades ago, we continue to draw on
our strengths of our practice area experts and
innovators, creating models replicated and built upon
throughout the country. As we complete a full year
since the presidential election and look back, I could
not be prouder of The Legal Aid Society as an
employer who values our staff’s diversity and
expertise, and who tirelessly and without pause
defends the rights of our City’s most marginalized
populations. I am proud to highlight our
accomplishments from the last year, and am
invigorated as we brace for the next phase of legal
challenges. 

KNOW YOUR RIGHTS SESSIONS FOLLOWING THE PRESIDENTIAL

ELECTION

The Immigration Law Unit in particular has
demonstrated the deftness, stamina, and expertise
needed to navigate the constant policy changes
coming from the new Administration. Following
the presidential election, the Immigration Law
Unit (ILU) dedicated significant staff resources to
holding a series of Know Your Rights (KYR)
presentations around the City, to discuss changes
we expected to see with the new administration
and what immigration options and remedies are
available to undocumented immigrants. In the first
six months following the election, ILU offered 65
trainings throughout the City, reaching nearly
4,300 individuals. At these presentations, ILU staff
from our Civil Practice provided an immigration
KYR, our Criminal Defense Practice discussed rights
in the event of an arrest, and our Juvenile Rights
Practice discussed the rights of parents and
children in the school system and the process of

setting up a guardianship if parents are facing
deportation and want to set up an emergency plan
for their children. These trainings were co-hosted
with community-based organizations (CBOs) and
schools, including several local high schools
serving large immigrant communities. The
unprecedented demand for information is a
testament to the heightened fear among
immigrants and their families, as well as the
demand for credible legal information that
continues to grow. 

PROTECTING THE RIGHTS OF IMMIGRANTS IN PARTNERSHIP

WITH OUR PRO BONO PARTNERS

As further described in this Annual Report, the
Society partnered with 25 private law firms as part
of three rapid response projects based on the
proposed changes to immigration law following the
election of President Donald J. Trump. These projects
included staffing an ICE (U.S. Department of
Homeland Security Immigration and Customs
Enforcement) Raid Hotline; partnering on U Visa
cases for undocumented victims of violent crime
who were helpful to law enforcement; and
partnering on asylum cases involving
unaccompanied minor children. As the immigration
landscape was quickly changing, there was an
urgency to file these cases before avenues for
immigration relief were closed for our clients. The
firms’ assistance on these cases ensured that we
could timely file these cases on behalf of our clients.

RAPID RESPONSE TO THE MUSLIM BAN AT JFK AIRPORT

Immigration attorneys from the Society were
among the first responders to John F. Kennedy
International Airport (JFK) on January 28, 2017 to
provide assistance following the issuance of
President Trump’s Executive Order the day earlier,
which was intended to exclude individuals from
seven countries. Our attorneys assisted in
preventing the removal of a number of immigrants,
and the experience and expertise that our
attorneys have in assisting detained individuals
was transferrable to the events that unfolded after
the issuance of the Executive Order. 

One client that we assisted at JFK was Ms. S, a 30-
year-old woman from Iran, who had been studying
at a university in the United States under a valid

THE CIVIL PRACTICE       
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Adriene Holder
Attorney-in-Charge

Civil Practice
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and current F1 student visa. She never violated any
of the terms of her visa and has been in full
compliance with any and all requirements. Having
not been home to visit family in a number of years,
Ms. S took a short trip home to Iran in January 2017,
prior to the issuance of the Executive Order. When
she flew back to JFK, she was immediately detained
by immigration authorities who told Ms. S that her
student visa was being revoked on the basis of the
Executive Order signed by President Trump the day
before. Ms. S was detained upon landing at JFK by
Customs and Border Patrol (CBP). Fortunately, she
had a number of friends who came to the airport
to greet her at JFK whom she was able to notify via
text that she was being detained. Her friends
contacted attorneys from The Legal Aid Society
who had gone to JFK airport to provide assistance.
The Society attorneys, together with a pro bono
attorney prepared and filed an individual Habeas
Petition with the United States District Court in the
Eastern District of New York on Ms. S’ behalf.

After the United States District Judge in the Eastern
District of New York signed a stay of President
Trump’s Executive Order, Ms. S’ friends and
attorneys were advised that she would be released.
However, shortly before 1:00 a.m, they learned that
she had been put on a plane that was proceeding
for takeoff.  The Society contacted the United States
Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of New
York and received a call back from an Assistant
United States Attorney (AUSA), who contacted CBP
and advised that the plane must be turned around
and returned to the airport gate so Ms. S could
disembark. When she got off the plane, she was
returned to a holding area where she stayed until
she was released the following morning. After her
release, Ms. S provided further details about the
situation she faced at JFK, including having been
shackled on her way to the plane and remaining in
shackles until forced to be seated on the plane.
After she was seated and her shackles were
removed, Ms. S stood up and tried to begin walking
in the aisles of the plane to inform the flight
attendants of the stay issued by the court. She was
pushed by the flight attendants back onto her seat.
Other passengers began to verbally harass her.
Despite being pushed and harassed, Ms. S
continued to fight to remain standing and refused

to sit down.  She continued to insist that she was
being unlawfully removed from the United States.
As a result of the advocacy of Society attorneys, Ms.
S eventually won her battle and continues to study
in the United States and is recovering from the
traumatic events that occurred at JFK. 

CREATING A RENTAL SUBSIDY THROUGH LITIGATION AND

ADVOCACY FOR FAMILIES FACING HOMELESSNESS

Through class action litigation, the Society’s Law
Reform Unit created a new housing subsidy – the
Family Homelessness and Eviction Prevention
Supplement (FHEPS) – that will assist as many as
20,000 families with minor children who are facing
homelessness as a result of an eviction proceeding
or domestic violence. 

In September 2017 the New York State Supreme
Court approved a class settlement in Tejada v.
Roberts (previously Velez v. Roberts) brought by the
Society and Hughes Hubbard & Reed.  The case was
brought on behalf of a class of families with minor
children who are eligible for public assistance
against the New York State Office of Temporary and
Disability Assistance (OTDA).  The class action
settlement will help address the large gap between
the State’s basic shelter allowance – which is only
$400 per month for a family of three – and the
actual cost of housing in New York City.  This case
built upon a lawsuit that the Society brought 30
years ago, Jiggetts v. Dowling, which determined
that poor families with minor children are entitled
to a basic rent subsidy from the State to help
prevent homelessness. The Jiggetts litigation
resulted in the creation of rent subsidies, including
the Family Eviction Prevention Supplement (FEPS),
to assist low-income New Yorkers. In the Tejada
litigation, the plaintiffs sought to increase the FEPS
subsidy to better assist New Yorkers as rents
continue to rise. 

The new FHEPS rent supplement, when combined
with the existing shelter allowance, will provide as
much as $1,534 for a family of three to maintain or
secure an apartment.  It will also open up the joint
State and City-funded program to families who are
facing homelessness as a result of domestic
violence for the first time.  And the FHEPS program
benefits are indexed to track any increases in rents
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approved for the City’s rent-stabilized apartments
over the next five years.

The FHEPS program will consolidate and expand
upon existing rent supplement programs. The
program is being launched on a pilot basis in
Brooklyn and the Bronx in November 2017. In
December 2017, some 16,000 households currently
receiving some other form of rent supplement will
be automatically enrolled in the new program, and
applications will be accepted throughout all five
borough of the City.  Starting in October 2017,
attorneys at The Legal Aid Society, in cooperation
with the State Office of Temporary Disability and
Assistance and the New York City Human Resources
Administration, began a series of training sessions
that will reach nearly 1,000 advocates and City
workers over the next several months, providing
them the information they need to help families
access the new FHEPS program.

Up to 200,000 or more individuals will ultimately
benefit from the Tejada litigation. This remarkable
success builds upon the Society’s initial landmark
litigation, Jiggetts v. Dowling,  which had already
helped hundreds of thousands of individuals over
the course of more than three decades prior to the
Tejada settlement.

ENSURING REASONABLE ACCOMMODATIONS FOR HOMELESS

PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

A proposed settlement in a class action case, Butler
v. City of New York, will make the homeless shelter
system accessible for disabled New Yorkers. The
case was brought by The Legal Aid Society with our
pro bono partners, White & Case on behalf of
Center for Independence of the Disabled, New York
(CIDNY) and Coalition for the Homeless, as well as
several named plaintiffs. 

In September, the United States District Court for
the Southern District of New York held a fairness
hearing and approved the settlement on October
16, 2017. The settlement agreement is with the New
York City Department of Homeless Services (DHS)
and a class of individuals who have a disability
and who currently live in shelter, who will seek
shelter in the future, or who tried to access shelter
on or after May 14, 2012. The settlement allows

for unprecedented access to reasonable
accommodations and a total overhaul of the
existing shelter locations to provide for more
accessible and supportive shelter placements and
services for over 60,000 homeless individuals,
many of who have significant physical and mental
disabilities. It will also require DHS to train its staff
on the rights of people with disabilities, as well as
making it easier for disabled individuals to request
reasonable accommodations in shelter. The
following case story highlights how the Butler
decision has assisted New Yorkers during a critical
point in their lives and helped them get on track to
finding stable housing.

Ms. J met an attorney at the Society when she was
exiting the New York City Department of Homeless
Services’ Prevention Assistance and Temporary
Housing (PATH) shelter intake office. The attorney
was conducting outreach at PATH. Ms. J was
homeless and seeking housing for herself, her
husband, their daughter, and their son, T, who was
13 months old and suffering from heart problems
and chronic lung disease. At the time, T had nurses
assisting him 24 hours a day. The family was placed
twice in a shelter in Brooklyn – out of range for T’s
nurses – and without adequate space for his nurses
and medical equipment. As a result, Ms. J was
forced to be separated from her son.

The Society attorney successfully advocated to
PATH’s lawyers to move the family to an
appropriate placement where T’s medical needs
could be met. Ms. J and her family have since
moved out of shelter housing and into their own
apartment. Ms. J and her husband are both
working, their daughter is in Kindergarten, and T's
health has improved. He’s learning how to go up
and down stairs, and he no longer has to be on
oxygen. The Butler settlement will prevent families
like Ms. J’s family from having to be separated from
their children due to the City’s inability to
accommodate disabilities.

PROTECTING AND PROVIDING FOR RUNAWAY HOMELESS YOUTH

The Society has engaged in advocacy efforts in the
last quarter on behalf of New York City’s runaway
and homeless youth (RHY) population. A number of
members at the City Council have introduced a

THE CIVIL PRACTICE continued       
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packet of five bills that will enhance a young
person’s access to effective, life-saving shelter and
services. 

Runaway and homeless youth comprise one of the
City’s most vulnerable communities. Many are in
precarious situations through no fault of their own.
Per existing law, homeless young people can only
stay in specialized youth shelters until the age of
21, at which point they must leave the home-like
environment and tailored services of youth shelters
and move to single adult shelters. Compounding
this reality is the fact that the adult brain is not
fully developed by age 21 but continues to
transform well into the late twenties. Early research
shows that trauma can slow or modify standard
brain development as well.1 Youth experiencing
homelessness also usually come to the youth
shelter systems having already been involved with
the juvenile or criminal justice system, or having
been a subject child in a Family Court proceeding.
They often have trauma histories, including from
their time living in the streets or couch-surfing. In
NYC the vast majority are youth of color and
between 20-40% of RHY identify as LGBTQIA+.2 For
these, and many more reasons, targeted services
and treatment for young people are so important.

In April 2017, New York State enacted enabling
legislation allowing localities to expand how
programs service runaway homeless youth. Now
we are urging the City to do their part. Specifically,
if signed into law, this legislation will:

●  Increase the age eligibility for runaway
youth to access RHY programs from 21 to 25
(Int. No 1706)

●  Extend the periods of time youth may
remain in runaway and homeless youth
shelters (Int. No 1699)

●  Require the city to provide shelter services
to all runaway and homeless youth who
request such services (Int. No 1700)

●  Report on the description and size of the
RHY population as well as service needs
population and other important data to
help formulate tailored policy and programs
(Int. No 1700 and 1619)

●  Streamline the intake and assessment
process connecting youth quicker to adult
services and shelter programs when they
age-out or time-out of RHY programs (Int.
No 1705)

The Society is partnering with the Coalition for
Homeless Youth, a not-for-profit coalition that
represents 29 of the RHY providers and advocates
in New York City, along with Coalition for the
Homeless and other City agencies to support the
passage of this package of bills. To this end the
Society has already co-authored an Op-ed with
Council Member Corey Johnson, and on September
28th organized a rally and press conference on City
Hall steps prior to testifying before the General
Welfare and Youth Services Committees of the City
Council. 

UNIVERSAL ACCESS TO LEGAL SERVICES IN HOUSING COURT

As a culmination of citywide efforts on the part of
advocates, tenants, academics and legal services
providers, Mayor Bill de Blasio signed legislation in
August guaranteeing a right to counsel for low-
income tenants in housing court, an issue The Legal
Aid Society has long prioritized and advocated for.
Justice cannot be achieved when over 90 percent
of landlords have legal representation in eviction
proceedings and 75 percent of tenants are
unrepresented - and this is the unfortunate reality
that plays out almost every day in housing courts
around the city. The right to counsel will save
taxpayer dollars, reduce homelessness and
establish parity in a system that has largely favored
landlords over seniors, working class families and
other low-income New Yorkers, and the Society is
currently working closely with the City on rolling
out this initiative.

1 “Brain Maturity Extends Well Beyond Teen Years”, National Public Radio, October 10, 2011. 
<<http://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=141164708>>
2 NYC Commission on Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Questioning Ruanway and Homeless Youth. All Our
Children: Strategies to Prevent Homelessness, Strengthen Services and Build Support for LGBTQ Youth. 2010. P 14.
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TRANSGENDER CLIENTS BENEFITTING FOLLOWING CRUZ

DECISION

In 2014, the Society, the Sylvia Rivera Law Project,
and Willkie Farr & Gallagher LLP as co-counsel
brought the federal class action lawsuit against the
New York State Department of Health (DOH) on
behalf of New Yorkers diagnosed with gender
dysphoria (GD) who were denied Medicaid
coverage for medically necessary GD treatment. In
December 2016, DOH began to provide Medicaid
coverage for medically necessary hormone
treatment and surgeries for transgender youth. As
a result of this advocacy, New Yorkers now have
broader access to medically necessary transgender
health care. Since the changes in coverage, the
Society’s Health Law Unit has been representing
clients who experience denials. In a recent example,
Mr. A, a transgender man, was denied gender
reassignment surgery. Specifically, his surgeon
requested a reduction mammoplasty for chest
reconstruction. This procedure was denied as not
medically necessary. Mr. A was insured through his
employer-based insurance. The insurer’s policy for
gender reassignment surgery (GRS) was severely
outdated and did not abide by current standards of
care for treating gender dysphoria and for the
provision of gender affirming care. HLU challenged
this denial through an external appeal with the
Department of Financial Services. We achieved a
successful outcome with his surgery approved and
avoided having to litigate the matter. More so, as a
result of the Society’s advocacy, along with other
community-based organizations and with the
interest of the New York State Attorney General’s
office, the health plan modernized their plan to
align it with current standards of care for GRS.

ASSISTING A SENIOR CITIZEN BY IDENTIFYING INCOME SUPPORT,
PROPERTY TAX ASSISTANCE AND PREVENTING FORECLOSURE

Mr. C, a senior citizen, came to the Foreclosure
Prevention Unit of The Legal Aid Society in May of
2017, seeking help with his mortgage on his home
which had been in the family since 1962 and where
he grew up. He had fallen behind on his mortgage
payments due to a reduction in his income. At the
time, the lender had not yet commenced a
foreclosure. Mr. C’s mortgage had previously been
modified with a two-percent interest rate. Our goal
in helping Mr. C was to reinstate this affordable

mortgage with funds from the Mortgage
Assistance Program (MAP) which is operated by the
Center for New York City Neighborhoods (CNYCN).
Unfortunately, Mr. C’s income was not enough to
meet MAP guidelines. After we reviewed Mr. C’s
financial situation it may became clear that he was
eligible for Social Security. We referred Mr. C to the
Benefits Unit at the Society. An attorney in the unit
assisted him with his application, and he is now
collecting benefits. We also learned that Mr. C owed
federal income taxes, resulting in a second referral
to the Low Income Taxpayer Clinic, which assisted
Mr. C in entering into a payment plan for his tax
arrears. The Foreclosure Prevention Unit further
helped Mr. C in applying to the New York City
Department of Finance for the Senior Citizen
Homeowners’ Exemption (SCHE) to reduce his
property taxes. After having assisted Mr. C with his
numerous financial problems, we then assisted him
with his application for a MAP loan, which we
expect will be granted and will prevent a
foreclosure of his home.

HELPING A CLIENT SEEKING PAYMENT FOR OVERTIME HOURS

Our Employment Law Unit (ELU) continues to
provide legal services to low-wage and unemployed
workers. Most cases involve unemployment
insurance, wage and hour violations, and workplace
discrimination, including discrimination based on
past involvement with the criminal justice system
and labor trafficking. The Unit frequently engages
in settlement and negotiation which allows many
of our clients to avoid litigation. The following case
story serves as one example of the work of the
Employment Law Unit.

Ms. M was employed as a home health aide from
July 2014 to June 2016. She first contacted the
Society in March 2016 because she had not been
paid for approximately 30-40 hours of work and
wanted assistance obtaining her wages. Ms. M kept
excellent records: she maintained every paystub
and every daily timesheet for her entire tenure with
her employer. The daily timesheets proved to be
crucial: at the end of every shift, the patient or
proxy would sign the timesheet, indicating the
precise minute Ms. M began and ceased to provide
care for the patient. Upon review of her timesheets,
it became apparent that Ms. M had not been paid

THE CIVIL PRACTICE continued       
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for all time worked. Instead, her employer had paid
Ms. M only for hours scheduled: in other words, if
her visit with a patient was scheduled for three
hours, that was all she was paid, regardless of
whether Ms. M had arrived at her shift early or
departed after the scheduled time, as was often the
case. Using her daily timesheets, we were able to

determine that, over the course of the two years of
her employment, Ms. M had been underpaid
approximately $1,250. We ultimately settled her
claim for $2,600 – the full amount of her unpaid
wages due, plus 100% liquidated damages, and
some interest.

The Legal Aid Society's 34th annual Holiday Party for Homeless and Other Vulnerable was a huge success thanks to the staff
and to members of the Board of Directors and the Board of Advisers and to their law firms and corporations for their generous
contributions.  The 500 children and their families are or have been homeless and are struggling to make ends meet and
provide food and shelter. For many of these children, The Legal Aid Society party is the only source of holiday gifts. 

Special thanks to the following firms whose outstanding donations of toys, books, games and volunteers made it possible
for the children and their families to enjoy the happiness of the holiday season: Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP; Davis Polk
& Wardwell LLP; Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer; Hughes, Hubbard & Reed LLP; Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP;
Morvillo, Abramowitz, Grand, Iason & Anello P.C.; Scholastic Books; Shearman & Sterling LLP; Sidley Austin, LLP; Sullivan &
Cromwell LLP; Travelers;  Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz; and Winston & Strawn LLP. Legal Aid's own Human Resources Chief
Officer Allan Fox entertained the children and Javier Chuck was a tremendous Santa Claus. Terri and Richard Kim donated
the hundreds of items for the crafts table which is a major attraction at the party. Photographs of the children and the
wonderful volunteers from the firms and The Legal Aid Society are on the Society's website on the flickr section You can
see the happy faces and know that you are responsible for the smiles and laughter. We thank you so much for caring.

34th Annual Holiday Party
for the Homeless and other Vulnerable Children
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The expansive reach of
the Criminal Defense
Practice runs from its

dynamic advocacy of
clients in court to its
presence and partnership
in communities. As the
primary public defender in
New York City, staff
zealously and tirelessly
work to protect the rights
of the most marginalized
and disenfranchised in
society. Yet our scope, as

the country’s oldest and largest public defender,
goes beyond any single case or client. Our
community engagement, impact litigation and
broader advocacy consistently strive for increased
fairness and humanity in the criminal justice
system, and seek to reduce the devastating
permanent consequences of system involvement
for our clients.

The Practice includes experienced trial offices in
every borough, an Appeals Bureau, a Parole
Revocation Defense Unit, a Prisoners’ Rights Project,
a Community Justice Unit and a Special Litigation
Unit. In each area, the Practice has developed
innovative model projects that garner expertise and
push criminal justice practice and discourse forward.
In the past year, the Practice represented nearly
230,000 clients in trial, appellate and post-
conviction matters. 

WE DEFEND CLIENTS IN COURT

Day in and day out, Practice staff work to protect
and fight for clients navigating justice system
involvement. Our effectiveness stems from our
work before, during and after a criminal case. For
example, Practice staff field intake inquiries from
clients needing assistance, engage in vigorous bail
advocacy, and work with clients’ families to mitigate
the larger impact of an arrest. Holistic advocacy is
the hallmark of our representation; our attorneys,
paralegals, investigators and social workers explore
all angles of allegations and charges, relentlessly
seeking to avoid unnecessary, unjust incarceration
and connect clients with critical resources that
address ongoing needs and obstacles.

Our staff tackles every issue confronting our clients,
pressing on questions like the validity of eyewitness
identification and the need for access to police
disciplinary records. The Practice’s units devoted to
DNA and digital forensics evidence and litigation
apply the latest advances in order to challenge the
government and secure evidence essential to the
defense of our clients. We elicit narratives that often
include compelling stories of innocence and false
accusations, a fuller development of the facts and
critical context. The results are dismissals, acquittals,
placement in alternative to incarceration programs,
reversals and even the clearance of wrongful
convictions decades later. 

One example of the Practice’s incredible litigation
experience and holistic defense team power is that
of our representation of Mr Gill.  

After a DNA “match” all but sealed Terrell Gill’s fate,
his Legal Aid defense team in our Queens
Community Trial Office, led by Maria C. Martinez
and Jenny S. Cheung, continued to fight to prove his
innocence. Working with Investigator, Savendra
Somdat, and Paralegal, Pauline Quinones, we
uncovered key evidence that was held back by
District Attorney that exonerated Mr Gill, allowing
him to return home to his young daughter.

The team was able to show the jury that DNA
evidence, like any other evidence in court, needs to
be analyzed, interpreted, and weighed against
other evidence such as video and eyewitness
accounts of the actual perpetrator. The team also
discovered that another man had pled guilty to two
other robberies of the exact fact pattern and
admitted to also committing the robbery Mr Gill
was charged with and the district attorney knew
that this man, who was serving a sentence on
those two cases, was likely guilty of this third case.
Leaving no stone unturned Maria and Jenny
travelled upstate to visit the man in prison to
obtain a statement confirming he committed the
third robbery. Despite providing this information to
the district attorney, Mr Gill was tried.  Luckily for
our client, the jury acquitted him of all charges
knowing he was wrongfully and unjustly
prosecuted.

14 THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY
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The Legal Aid Society helps people like Mr Gill each
and every day. Our hardworking staff works for
those with nowhere else to turn, ensuring that
New Yorkers who find themselves unjustly accused
have a fighting chance at justice. 

Our courtroom advocacy goes far beyond individual
cases. Through the work of our law reform units,
Special Litigation and Prisoners’ Rights Project,
systemic change is achieved.

Our Special Litigation Unit, which brings class
action and law reform cases, focuses on eliminating
deep-seated problems affecting our clients’ rights,
such as police abuse and government overreach.
On September 30, 2016, we filed D.H., et al v. City of
New York (SDNY), a civil rights class action against
the City of New York and certain named officers of
the New York City Police Department (NYPD) on
behalf of women of color, many of whom are
transgender, who have been wrongly arrested for
innocent conduct under New York Penal Law
Section 240.37. The plaintiffs have challenged the
law which criminalizes loitering for the purpose of

prostitution, because it is unconstitutional on its
face and also because it is unlawfully enforced by
NYPD officers who target women for arrest based
on race, gender, ethnicity, gender identity, and/or
appearance.  Despite claims that it has reformed its
relationship with the transgender community, the
NYPD utilizes Section 240.37’s unconstitutional
provisions to engage in “sweeps” aimed at
arresting transgender women of color in public
places where they attempt to gather and socialize
as a community and avoid the violence, hostility
and discrimination directed at them in other parts
of the City.

This year the Unit’s Cop Accountability Project,
which collects data of individual police officers past
disciplinary issues, substantiated CCRB complaints
and 1983 claims, launched a web-based mobile
interface that will allow public defenders from NYC
defender offices and Federal Defenders fast access
to critical data cultivated and stored in the
database. The information has proven to be
invaluable. In one example Staff Attorney Zamir
Ben-Dan of our Bronx Community Trial Office, using

Tina Luongo, the Attorney-in-Charge of the Criminal Defense Practice, speaks at a rally promoting reform of New York’s
Discovery Laws which are restrictive.
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information gathered from the database, won a
critical “Gissendanner” motion ordering the
officer's disciplinary history to be disclosed to the
defense, leading to our client's criminal case being
dismissed and sealed. In another, Staff Attorney
Jerome Greco of our Manhattan Trial Office used
the database and compiled a dossier of information
about a police officer who seemed to be profiling
Asian men driving delivery bikes, leading to a
dismissal after he shared the information with the
assigned district attorney. He further shared his
materials with others, leading to many more
dismissals.

This pursuit of police information is extensive and
goes to critical issues of police department
accountability and transparency. The Special
Litigation Unit is seeking Civilian Complaint Review
Board misconduct summaries that were
substantiated against Officer Daniel Pantaleo
before he applied a fatal chokehold on Eric Garner.
In July 2015, Manhattan Supreme Court Justice Alice
Schlesinger decided such records fell outside the
state’s stringent police personnel disclosure laws.

The Unit, working with pro bono partner Cleary
Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP has filed an appeal
in this State’s highest court. 

The Practice also fights to protect the rights of
prisoners and people released to community
supervision. Our Prisoners’ Rights Project advises
and represents inmates in city jails and state
prisons. Beyond any one case, the Project is a key
advocate for fairness and oversight in New York’s
jails and prisons. The Project is closely watching city
compliance with a landmark consent decree to
address prisoner abuse by Department of
Correction.  Additionally, answer daily calls from
people held at Rikers or State prisons complaining
of abuse and neglect.  

Our Parole Revocation Defense Unit, the first of its
kind in the nation established in 1972, represents
clients released from prison to community
supervision who are accused of breaching release
conditions and are returned to jail on a parole
violation – many times for a mere technical
violation such as being late for curfew. 

The Legal Aid Society has been a leading voice in supporting reform of discovery laws, striking down the “Blindfold Law.”
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With the Practice’s Criminal Appeals Bureau, we
continue to advocate long after the trial-level case
ends when we represent clients on direct appeals
and post-conviction matters. This work is
supported by incredible pro bono counsel. In
addition to cutting edge appellate litigation,
appeals staff is a leading appellate provider in New
York State Clemency Project.  Just this year,  the unit
assisted more than 20 clients in preparing their
petitions for the Governors' review.  In one
successful example, CAB received relief for "AD", 34,
who was serving a 10-year sentence following his
conviction of Robbery in the Second Degree. He
made exceptional strides in prison, including
earning a GED in 2014. "AD" was very involved as a
group facilitator and certified animal caretaking
with the Puppies Behind Bars program, in which
inmates train service dogs for U.S. veterans
returning home with post-traumatic stress
disorder. He also worked as a teaching assistant in
GED courses. When released, he planned to reunite
with his two children, ages 15 and 11. Ultimately, he
hopes to move closer to his parents in Florida and
create a non-profit similar to Puppies Behind Bars
for Florida State correctional facilities.

“AD” was represented by the The Legal Aid Society
and by the firm of Cleary, Gottlieb – attorneys S.
Ellie Norton & Ashley Kerr.

WE DEMAND AN END TO MASS INCARCERATION

In 2016, the Special Litigation Unit launched its
Decarceration Project to decrease and eventually
end needless pre-trial jailing, which results when
people cannot afford to pay bail. Along with
becoming a strong voice in the national
conversation on bail reform, the Decarceration
Project piloted an innovative approach to bail
litigation in our Manhattan Trial office. Project staff
support and advise trial lawyers in challenging bail
decisions, from arraignment through appeals to
the appellate division. A specialized social worker
meets with clients to identify service needs and
match with appropriate programming. Staff also
connect clients with bail funds and the Supervised
Release program. The Project has brought over 50
bail applications, reviews, or motions for bail
pending appeal, and over 40% of Project clients
have won their release. The Project is also
coordinating a brand-new inter-agency initiative to
reduce, and eventually eliminate, the number of

John Schoeffel, Staff Attorney in the Special Litigation Unit and the Criminal Defense Training Unit, conducts a training for a
new class of criminal defense lawyers.
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women held pretrial on Rikers Island. With funding
and support from the Open Society Foundation and
FedCap, we identify eligible clients and prepares an
application for review by the New York County
District Attorney’s office, seeking prosecutorial
consent to the client’s release to programming
through FedCap and its community partners. Even
in the absence of agreement from the DA, we have
been successful in persuading judges to release our
clients to participate in this program. In 2018 the
Project hopes to continue expanding this work to
other boroughs and ramp up training for lawyers
Society-wide. 

WE DEFEND COMMUNITIES

As the City’s primary public defender, we believe
advocacy must not only take place in the
courtroom, but in the communities where our
clients live and work.  Everyday our defenders are
engaging clients, community members and
advocacy groups helping to amplify the voices of
people affected by a broken criminal justice system.

Practice members regularly testify before
lawmakers and government agencies to comment
on proposed legislation and provide insight on
issues affecting our clients. The advocacy has led to

important legislative victories. The Criminal
Practice provides, in each forum, a critical and
frequently overlooked voice, highlighting where
reform is necessary.

Members of the Practice worked closely with New
York City Council members to formulate a series of
bills that would improve bail posting procedures,
analyze the issue of ICE officers removing
immigrant New Yorkers from our Courts and the
need to increased accountability and transparency
of the New York City Police Department. In addition
to local hearings, members of staff have testified
at New York State Assembly and Senate hearings
and numerous, state and national panels,
commissions and task forces.  We believe that work
to reform the criminal system is equally as
important to the work we do on behalf of our
individual clients.

Part of this effort is performed through the
Community Justice Unit, which is premised on the
idea of identifying and attempting to address
neighborhood problems before they escalate into
crises. For example, the Unit is part of a coalition
made up of impacted family members, community
members and community organizations who are

Staff in Queens Criminal Defense were out in full force helping to give Queens residents a Second Chance by resolving
outstanding summons warrants in a program with the Queens District Attorney’s Office and the Office of Court
Administration.
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being affected by gang raids, immigration sweeps,
surveillance and databases on suspected gang
members and individuals alleged to be associated
with gang members.  Through this collaborative
work, the group has put together speaking events
at John Jay College, a town hall meeting in Harlem,
a panel presentation at the Left Forum and a recent
press conference where the group announced a
recent action to demand accountability and
transparency around this form of policing.
Additionally, the CJU has been at the forefront of
providing Know Your Rights training at the
intersection of criminal law and immigration law.
Through our cross-practice collaboration with our
Immigration Law Unit and the Juvenile Rights

Practice, CJU practice members regularly appear at
panel events with elected officials such Congress
Member Nydia Velasquez and New York City
Council members to provide critical information to
immigrant communities citywide. 
Rather than being tied to one location, the Unit
travels regularly to hold office hours at Cure
Violence partner sites, and attend events and
responses to shootings and gang takedowns. The
Unit assists clients eligible for a diversion program
meant to take 16- and 17-year-olds facing low-level
misdemeanors out of the court system. The Unit
conducts community intake and refers clients to
Legal Aid staff in every practice area.

LAS AR 2017 Text.qxp_Layout 1  11/14/17  3:22 PM  Page 19



20 THE LEGAL AID SOCIETY

The challenging job of
representing the voice
of children in New

York City Family Courts falls
squarely on the shoulders
of JRP, which represents
90% of the children who
appear before the New York
City Family Court on child
welfare, termination of
parental rights, PINS
(persons in need of
supervision), and juvenile
delinquency petitions.

JRP has always sought to enhance the quality and
expand the scope of its advocacy through the
development of several specialized units. The
Juvenile Services Unit (JSU), our social work
component, was formed as a result of the
pioneering work of JRP in teaming social workers
with lawyers in order to adequately address the
educational, social, and psychological issues that
arise in Family Court proceedings.  The Kathryn A.
McDonald Education Advocacy Project (EAP)
provide specialized legal and social work assistance
in cases requiring educational advocacy.

Our Adolescent Practice Teams in each borough
have garnered the expertise to provide
representation necessary to ensure clients who are
aging out of the foster care system receive the
entitlements required by law and regulations.
Additionally, these Teams have been able to offer
all LAS staff their expert knowledge regarding
these issues via trainings and through the
development of standardized motion practice
documents available to JRP staff as well as
attorneys for children citywide. Our Trauma
Advocacy Project works under a similar concept in
which a team of staff in each borough has
developed a particular expertise in working with
children who are the subject of the most difficult
abuse cases.  This Project has developed interview
protocols, court documents, and a vetted list of
abuse experts for consultation and testimony
purposes, as well as a comprehensive compendium
of the best service providers for these children and
their families.

Every day in the five boroughs of New York City, JRP
staff represents almost 20,000 children in child
welfare, juvenile justice, and PINS matters. This
work is complicated, complex, and emotional and
involves a considerable amount of in court
advocacy including trials of all types. Knowing the
serious and heartbreaking circumstances of our
clients, JRP staff provides this representation in a
holistic manner, ensuring each facet of our clients’
lives is addressed appropriately by ACS, NYC DOE, a
myriad of provider agencies and the courts.

While our Special Litigation addressed the macro
inequities our clients’ face, the attorneys, social
workers, paralegals, support staff and investigators
in the boroughs work at the micro level, meeting
with young clients to reassure them and determine
their position, fighting for the services to which
they are entitled, presenting their positions to the
court, participating in numerous hearings
providing zealous advocacy, writing motions to
both the trial and appellate courts to safeguard
their rights, and dealing with agencies and an
education system that are overwhelmed and often
non-responsive to our clients’ needs. There is no
way to adequately describe the intense, wide-
ranging and far-reaching work other than to
provide case examples that illustrate the depth of
the work done every day by the staff of the Juvenile
Rights Practice. This work literally changes lives,
giving children and young adults hope that the very
systems that so greatly impact their lives will hear
their voice, their position. JRP’s 330 lawyers, social
workers, paralegals, investigators and support staff,
make sure the wheels of justice keep turning for
the clients we so gratefully serve.

For example, Matthew V., is a 13-year old client with
a diagnosis of Ewing Sarcoma cancer. His mother,
who by all accounts is a loving a committed parent,
is refusing recommended chemotherapy. Our
client, whose cancer is currently stable, feels
very healthy and active and also opposes
chemotherapy. The hospital called ACS, based on
the refusal of chemo, and ACS filed a neglect
petition last week and asked for a remand for
purposes of medical decision making. The case was
on for a FCA 1027 hearing and a pediatric
oncologist testified in support of the medical

THE JUVENILE RIGHTS PRACTICE       
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recommendations. The Judge issued a decision
authorizing ACS to take over medical decision
making, in order to consent to chemotherapy. 

Throughout the proceedings, the JRP attorney
directly advocated our client’s position and
beautifully articulated, in her summation, the
importance of not substituting judgment in this
case where, arguably, it would have been ethically
permissible to do so. Our client fully participated
in the hearing and had an in camera interview
with the Judge to articulate the basis of his
position. Despite the highly emotional nature of
the allegations, the JRP attorney’s composure,
eloquence and preparedness impressed everyone
in the courtroom and was noted by the Judge,
opposing counsel, and most importantly our client
and his family, who were grateful for our zealous
advocacy. There is no winning outcome in this
tragic case, but the JRP attorney’s advocacy gave
our client a voice in the legal process and her
summations were compelling and inspired.

Another client, Aniya S., has dual contact with
Family Court. She is the subject of a child welfare
case and juvenile delinquency case.  Aniya, who is
12 years old, was accused of burning a friend at a
sleepover with a pot of boiling water, resulting in
serious injuries to her friend.  Aniya was arrested
and charged with a felony assault and about that
same time the Administration for Children’s
Services filed a neglect petition against her mother.
Aniya was psychiatrically hospitalized after the
incident and technically removed from her
mother’s care by ACS.  Our team,  a social worker
and attorney met with our client,  in the hospital
and developed a plan consistent with her position.
Referrals were made, including to the Bloom
Project, which provides intensive in-home services
to delinquency-involved youth and their families.

The Kathryn A. McDonald Education Advocacy
Project (EAP) provides early intervention, special
education, general education and school
suspension advocacy for children who are involved
in child protective cases, juvenile delinquency cases

Dodd Terry, Attorney-in-Charge of the Manhattan JRP Office, and Dawne Mitchell, the new Attorney-in-Charge of the JRP,
met with U.S. Senator Cory Booker when they traveled to Washington o receive the Angels in Adoption Award for excellence
in providing representation to more than 30,000 children annually, for appellate victories and for changing laws affecting
children.
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and “persons in need of supervision” cases in New
York City Family Court.  EAP’s interdisciplinary staff
currently consists of a Director, Assistant Attorney-
in-Charge, four attorneys, three social workers and
one paralegal.  During FY 2016-2017, EAP provided
direct advocacy on 409 new cases.

After initially receiving reports from the hospital
recommending an out-of-home placement for our
client, our team advocated with her treatment
team, presenting the plan to keep Aniya home.    The
hospital staff changed their position on where
Aniya should be discharged due to the strength of
the plan developed by our team.  This change in
recommendation from the hospital strengthened
our advocacy with both the Administration for
Children’s Services and the Presentment Agency on
the delinquency case.  After JRP filed a motion for
an emergency FCA 1028 hearing to return Aniya
home, ACS consented to her returning home on that
case.  Additionally, the Presentment Agency
consented to a parole of Aniya based on the services
our team expertly set up in a very short period of
time.  Aniya has been home since being discharged
from the hospital.  ACS continues to monitor the
home, services remain in place, our client is engaged
in the intensive services, and we are anticipating
favorable resolutions on both cases.

The incredibly positive and collaborative relationship
forged the past 12 years between JRP management
and staff has allowed JRP to shift and change to meet
the needs of our clients and our staff. An example of
this has been JRP's Secondary Trauma Stress
Committee. This staff/supervisor committee has been
working for the past few years to address the issue of
secondary trauma among staff.  In addition to
developing and implementing a PowerPoint training
for staff and interns that teaches them to recognize
the signs of vicarious trauma in themselves and their
peers and offers suggestions for how cope with it, the
Committee has initiated De-stress and Digest monthly
lunch meetings in which staff meets to discuss the
difficulties of working with clients who have been
traumatized in a number of ways.  We provide the
training to all new interns and have made the training
part of the initial child welfare training we give all
incoming staff.  Members of this committee have
spoken and trained at national, state and local forums,

and have begun to train in the other Practices as well.
JRP knows that the well-being of our staff translates
into more effective representation of our clients.

JRP continues to be an instrumental part of the
City's Juvenile Justice Advisory Council, and is an
equally integral part of the State Department of
Criminal Justice Services' New York City Juvenile
Justice Regional Center.  JRP has also spoken on
several panels related to the reforms, now speaks
regularly in trainings and on panels regarding Raise
the Age, including at a conference on Mental
Health and Juvenile Justice, Appellate Department
AFC trainings, law school events, and at the
Practicing Law Institute. It is clear that part of our
role in these forums, meetings, and task force
groups is to act as a watchdog as the largest reform
of the state’s and city’s juvenile justice system
continues to be implemented.

Due to the landmark Close to Home law, the ability
for JRP to continue our relationship with our clients
post-placement has significantly improved.  In
response, JRP developed a innovative and
comprehensive Post-Dispositional protocol to
address the changing landscape of JRP's post-
dispositional delinquency practice.  This protocol
includes every facet of post-dispositional practice
and was born out of the knowledge that children
require continued advocacy whether they are on
probation or in placement to ensure their rights are
protected, their safety assured and their re-entry is
successful JRP’s dedication to their clients would
not allow for anything less, child clients deserve
advocacy that ensure long-term success. This
successful model has been an integral part in the
decrease in recidivism seen in the city’s juvenile
justice practice.

On April 10, 2017, New York Gov. Andrew Cuomo
signed into law the “Raise the Age” legislation that
extends the age of criminal responsibility to 18
years of age.  By October 2019, New York will no
longer automatically prosecute all 16- and 17-year-
olds as adults. Starting in September 2108 all cases
involving 16 year olds charged with misdemeanors
and some adolescents charged with nonviolent
felonies will be heard in Family Court. At this
juncture, the courts, prosecuting agencies, city and
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state juvenile and criminal justice offices, defense
organizations, probation and others are meeting to
determine how this will be accomplished. But no
matter what, it is clear that the implementation
will involve an increase in cases for JRP staff. In
attempting to estimate the number of children to
be assigned to JRP staff,

One of the most exciting events of the past year
was JRP’s Gault Event. To commemorate the 50th
Anniversary of the Supreme Court’s landmark
decision in In re Gault, the Juvenile Rights Practice
held a full day conference at CUNY Law School on
May 17, 2017. It was a incredible day for learning,
reflection and inspiration.

JRP is particularly proud this year to have been
nominated by Senator Kristen Gillibrand to be
awarded the 2017 Congressional Coalition on
Adoption Institute (CCAI) Angels in Adoption®
Award, which is a very high honor. Being chosen by

CCAI as an Angel in Adoption was exciting and
culminated in our participation in recognition and
award gala in Washington D.C. As part of this event,
we were able to meet with several senators and
congressional members about the issues that are
so important to our clients. Additionally, JRP’s AIC
was recognized by the New York Law Journal as one
of the top 30 Women in Law in New York State, and
was honored by Hofstra University Law School as
the Public Justice Foundation’s 2017 Outstanding
Alumni Award. Additionally, JRP’s AIC was chosen
as the sole juvenile defender on a national research
project funding by the Department of Justice to
examine and recommend national public defender
practice standards to increase public defense
funding and support. JRP continues to be
recognized as a leader in the field of juvenile law
with our innovative and dynamic model of
representation encompassing every facet of a child
or young adult’s life.
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Seated, left to right:
David Hille, Partner, White &
Case LLP and Legal Aid Society
Board Member; New York State
Chief Judge Janet DiFiore; Louis
O’Neill, Pro Bono Director &
Counsel, White & Case LLP; and
Patrick Rickerfor, Global Pro Bono
Manager, White & Case LLP.

Standing from The Legal Aid Society,
left to right:
Seymour W. James, Jr., Attorney-in-
Chief; Richard J. Davis, Chair, Board
of Directors; Blaine (Fin) V. Fogg,
President; Louis S. Sartori, Director,
Pro Bono Practice.

The Pro Bono Practice partners with volunteers from the private bar, corporate legal departments
and law schools to assist the Society's staff in handling matters for thousands of clients in their
Civil, Criminal Defense and Juvenile Rights practices. Each year the Society works with over 3,000

volunteers in a variety of innovative projects including limited scope clinics, individual client
representation and significant class action litigation on behalf of low income New Yorkers. Last year,
over 280,000 volunteer hours were contributed to the Society by volunteers from 59 law firms, 44 law
schools, and a dozen corporations.

The Legal Aid Society held its 2017 Pro Bono Publico Awards program on October 25, 2017 at The Prince George
Ballroom in Manhattan honoring over 40 private law firms and corporations that assisted the Society with

major law reform cases, individual client representations and other pro bono initiatives on behalf of vulnerable
New Yorkers.

New York State Chief Judge Janet DiFiore presented White & Case LLP with the Society’s top honor, the Honorable
Jonathan Lippman New York Pro Bono Publico and Public Service Law Firm Award.  White & Case LLP was honored for
its exceptional pro bono commitment to The Legal Aid Society and its clients.  Under the leadership of David Hille,
Partner and Legal Aid Society Board Member; Louis O’Neill, Pro Bono Director & Counsel; Patrick Rickerfor, Global Pro
Bono Manager; and Partner Paul Carberry, the attorneys, legal assistants and administrative staff at White & Case have
demonstrated a sustained commitment to meet the needs of the less fortunate in New York City. The firm has done
exceptional work with our Homeless Rights and Housing Units on behalf of disabled New Yorkers seeking accessible
shelters and appropriate subsidies. Additionally, their continued work defending the Sixth Amendment’s protection of
the right to counsel, staffing the Criminal Defense Externship in Manhattan, providing counsel in criminal appeals, as
well as handling both Immigration and Employment Law referrals through a unique Attorney Emeritus mentorship
project, are only the most recent examples of a decades-long partnership with The Legal Aid Society.

2017 PRO BONO PUBLICO AWARDS

THE PRO BONO PRACTICE        
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Joseph S. Genova of Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP was presented with the Public Interest Law Leadership
Award for his extraordinary contributions as a volunteer attorney and leader of Milbank’s acclaimed pro bono program,
and for fostering the private bar’s partnership with legal services organizations for over 25 years.

Additionally, firms were recognized in the following categories:

Protecting the Rights of Immigrants
Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP

Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP
Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP

Proskauer Rose LLP
Shearman & Sterling LLP

Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP

Corporate Volunteer Assistance
KPMG LLP 

American International Group, Inc. 
Eisner Amper LLP 

Outstanding Advocacy in Defense of the Accused
Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP

Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP
DLA Piper LLP

Kirkland & Ellis LLP
Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP

Winston & Strawn LLP 

   Dedicated Volunteers Serving the New York City Community
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TIME & TALENT
The impact of volunteer assistance on the clients of

The Legal Aid Society

3244 Volunteers

1727
Attorneys

(From 59 law firms)

750
Paralegals and

Administrative Professionals

365
Student Interns

(From 44 law schools)

402
Miscellaneous Staff
(From various resources)

281,433
Hours

of
Pro Bono

Assistance
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Arnold & Porter Kaye Schloer LLP
Baker & Hostetler LLP
Boies, Schiller & Flexner LLP
BuckleySandler LLP
Cadwalader Wickersham & Taft LLP
Cahill Gordon & Reindel LLP
Chadbourne & Parke LLP
Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP
Cooley LLP
Covington & Burling LLP
Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP
Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP
Debevoise & Plimpton LLP
Dechert LLP
DLA Piper LLP (US)
Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP
Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP
Friedman Kaplan Seiler & Adelman LLP
Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
Goodwin Procter LLP
Hughes Hubbard & Reed LLP
Jones Day
Kirkland & Ellis LLP
Kramer Levin Naftalis & Frankel LLP 
Lankler Siffert & Wohl LLP

Latham & Watkins LLP
Mayer Brown LLP
Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP
Morvillo Abramowitz Grand Iason & Anello PC
O’Melveny & Myers LLP
Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP
Patterson Belknap Webb & Tyler LLP
Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP
Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP
Proskauer Rose LLP
Ropes & Gray LLP
Schulte Roth & Zabel LLP
Shearman & Sterling LLP
Sidley Austin LLP
Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
Sullivan & Cromwell LLP
Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz
Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP
White & Case LLP
Willkie Farr & Gallagher LLP
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP 
Winston & Strawn LLP
Wollmuth Maher & Deutsch LLP

SUSTAINING LAW FIRMS

The Legal Aid Society acknowledges  the outstanding support and dedication of the Sustaining Law
Firms. These firms sustain the work of  The Legal Aid Society by contributing at a leadership level
of $600 per attorney in their New York offices.

The support of the Sustaining  Law Firms enables The Legal Aid Society’s Civil Practice to provide legal
representation to the most vulnerable New Yorkers, including: senior citizens, survivors of domestic
violence, persons living with HIV/AIDS, homeless  and immiently homeless families and individuals,
adults and children living with disabilities, immigrants, and low-income wage earners.

The support of the Sustaining Law Firms helps to ensure that poverty is not a barrier to accessing the
justice system.
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We are deeply grateful to all the law firms, corporations, foundations, and individuals for their support
of our work this past year. With contributions from so many committed members of our community,
we continue our push each day to ensure that no New Yorker is denied access to justice because of

poverty. We are especially thankful to our Sustaining Law Firms, whose enduring generosity allows us to bring
essential legal services to thousands of vulnerable New Yorkers. 

Each year, the generous support from the individuals and organizations listed below lets us handle over 300,000
individual cases and undertake a number of important law reform litigation cases that make a lasting change
for millions of underserved New Yorkers. Every day, in every borough, our staff makes justice a reality for our
clients, bringing an unmatched depth and breadth of legal expertise to ensure that justice is served. 

In these uncertain times, the commitment of our donors means more than ever before. As our clients face new
legal challenges, the support of our donors allows us to grow and adapt, bringing vital legal services to the
communities that need them the most. Our efforts to provide holistic and effective legal assistance to families
and individuals across the city would not have been realized without the dedication of all our supporters.

We thank you for your thoughtful investment in the New Yorkers we serve every day.

THANK YOU TO OUR SUPPORTERS

SUSTAINING LAW FIRMS

Arnold & Porter Kaye Schloer LLP
Baker & Hostetler LLP
Boies, Schiller & Flexner LLP
BuckleySandler LLP
Cadwalader Wickersham & Taft LLP
Cahill Gordon & Reindel LLP
Chadbourne & Parke LLP
Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP
Cooley LLP
Covington & Burling LLP
Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP
Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP
Debevoise & Plimpton LLP
Dechert LLP
DLA Piper LLP (US)
Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP
Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP
Friedman Kaplan Seiler & Adelman LLP
Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
Goodwin Procter LLP
Hughes Hubbard & Reed LLP
Jones Day
Kirkland & Ellis LLP
Kramer Levin Naftalis & Frankel LLP 
Lankler Siffert & Wohl LLP
Latham & Watkins LLP
Mayer Brown LLP
Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP
Morvillo Abramowitz Grand Iason &
Anello PC
O’Melveny & Myers LLP
Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP
Patterson Belknap Webb & Tyler LLP
Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP
Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP
Proskauer Rose LLP
Ropes & Gray LLP
Schulte Roth & Zabel LLP
Shearman & Sterling LLP
Sidley Austin LLP
Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
Sullivan & Cromwell LLP
Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz

Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP
White & Case LLP
Willkie Farr & Gallagher LLP
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP 
Winston & Strawn LLP
Wollmuth Maher & Deutsch LLP

INSTITUTIONAL SUPPORT

$500,000+
Robin Hood Foundation
Robin Hood Foundation/Single Stop USA, Inc.

$100,000 to $499,999
Center for Urban Community Services, Inc.
The Estée Lauder Companies, Inc.
The Joseph H. Flom Foundation
Fund For The City of New York
Estate of Robert Gilbert
Bernard F. and Alva B. Gimbel Foundation, Inc.
Immigrant Justice Corps
Estate of Walter Merritt
The New York Community Trust
NoVo Foundation

$50,000 to $99,999
Ambrose Monell Foundation
American Bar Association
Assurant Foundation
BNY Mellon
The Charles Evans Hughes Memorial

Foundation, Inc.
Emery Celli Brinckerhoff & Abady LLP
Equal Justice Works
Henry & Lucy Moses Fund, Inc.
The Lauder Foundation-Leonard &

Judy Lauder
MAC AIDS Fund
Quinn Emanuel Urquhart & Sullivan LLP
Travelers

$25,000 to $49,999
Alston & Bird LLP
Bryan Cave LLP
Charles A. Frueauff Foundation, Inc.

Chelsea Relief Fund
EisnerAmper LLP
The Lucius N. Littauer Foundation
MacAndrews & Forbes Incorporated
MJR Foundation LLC
Sara E. Moss Family Fund
New York University
The Parsons Family Foundation
Pfizer Inc.
SL Green Realty Corp.
Viacom Inc.

$10,000 to $24,999
The Alice Lawrence Foundation, Inc.
American Express Company
Baker & McKenzie LLP
The Bridge
Carter Ledyard & Milburn LLP
CBRE, Inc.
Charles S. Keene Foundation
Corinthian International Foundation
Cornerstone Research
Crowell & Moring LLP
Diller - von Furstenberg Family Foundation
DOAR, Inc.
The Edouard Foundation Inc.
Equal Justice America
Goldman, Sachs & Co.
JPMorgan Chase & Co.
Ira N. Langsan & Lillian Langsan

Philanthropic Fund
Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP
Kurtz Family Foundation
MacAndrews & Forbes Incorporated
Marsh & McLennan Companies Inc.
Mastercard
Morgan Stanley 
The Peter Jennings Foundation, Inc.
Porphyry Road Foundation
Thomson Reuters
RSM US LLP
Stroock & Stroock & Lavan LLP
Sy Syms Foundation
Wachs Family Fund
The Isak and Rose Weinman Foundation, Inc.
Willis Towers Watson
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$5,000 to $9,999
A & J Saks Foundation Inc.
Arthur J. Gallagher & Co.
Bernstein Litowitz Berger & Grossmann LLP
The Brattle Group
Caplan Family Foundation Trust
Continental Grain Foundation
Edwin Gould Services for Children & Families
Elephant Rock Foundation
Eversheds Sutherland (US) LLP
The Frances Alexander Foundation
Goldfarb & Fleece LLP
Goldin Associates, LLC
Gosebruch Family Trust
Hearst Communications Inc.
Institute Of International Education
Jack Resnick & Sons, Inc.
Kekst and Company
K. Hovnanian Companies, LLC.
The Leon Levy Foundation
Luskin, Stern & Eisler LLP
Malcolm Gibbs Foundation, Inc.
Marjorie S. Isaac Charitable Lead Annuity

Trust
Morris, Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell LLP
John O'Connor Charitable Gift Fund
Outten & Golden LLP
Seyfarth Shaw Charitable Foundation
Tory Burch LLC
United HealthCare Services, Inc.
Venable LLP
Wolf Run Foundation, Inc.

$1,000 to $4,999
Alvarez & Marsal Disputes and

Investigations, LLC
Bahler Family Fund
Belson Family Fund
Bialkin Family Foundation
Brooklyn Law School
The Elise and Andrew Brownstein

Charitable Trust
Brunswick Group LLC
Buchdahl Family Fund
The Florence V. Burden Foundation
Calico Fund
Center for Survivor Agency and Justice
Leonard Chazen and Linda Rappaport

Charitable Gift Fund
Ciresi Conlin LLP
Citizens Bank, N.A.
The Cameron Clark Memorial Fund
The Clorox Company Foundation
Jessica Jennifer Cohen Foundation
The Jonathan L. Cohen Foundation
Jacques & Emy Cohenca Foundation, Inc.
Curtis Family Foundation, Inc.
The Das Fund
Davidson, Dawson & Clark LLP
DeLaCour Family Foundation
Edgeworth Economics, LLC
ELSAM FUND
The Evangelakos Family Charitable Fund
Farber Fund
Michael S. Feldberg-Ruth Lazarus

Charitable Trust
Fross Zelnick Lehrman & Zissu, P.C.
General Motors Company
GLG
Max & Elisabeth Gitter Charitable Fund

Edward and Marjorie Goldberger
Foundation

The Goldstone Family Foundation
The Goldstone Fund, Inc.
Green Fund, Inc.
Peter and Helen Haje Foundation
The Howard Bayne Fund
Hurtuk & Daroff Co., L.P.A.
Jacobs/Walker Family Fund
Kaufman Revocable Trust
Kerr/Thomas Donor Trust
KLM Equities Inc.
Kornblau Family Foundation
Labaton Sucharow LLP
The Lincer Family Charitable Fund
Ruth Norden Lowe and Warner L. Lowe

Memorial Fund
Mathews Family Fund
Andrew Miller Gift Fund
Naon, Inc.
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
The New Ellis Group
Craig Newmark Philanthropic Fund
The Palm Tree Fund
The Pegram Family Fund
Posner-Wallace Foundation
Quinn Mayo Fund
Ramsay Leatherman Cloud Fund
Steve and Florence Roffman Family Fund
Ross Aronstam & Moritz LLP
The Alfred and Jane Ross Foundation, Inc.
Shapiro Charitable Giving Account
Jeanne S. and Herbert J. Siegel

Philanthropic Fund
Moses Silverman and Betty Robbins

Charitable Gift Fund
Silverstein Properties Inc.
The Steptoe Foundation
Lynn S. Stern Fund
Gabrielle and Arthur O Sulzberger, Jr.

Family Giving Fund
The Tow Foundation Inc.
Trepper Family Fund
TSG Reporting
The Tufenkian Foundation
United Church of Rockville Centre
Visa USA
Kenneth Vittor and Judith Aisen Charitable

Fund
Murray and Phyllis Warschauer Fund
The Wonderful Foundation
Woodside Sunnyside Runners St Pat's 4 All

Parade 
Young Conway Stargatt & Taylor, LLP

INDIVIDUAL SUPPORT

$25,000+
Anonymous
Diane and Blaine V. (Fin) Fogg
Sara Moss and Michael Gould
Barry Skovgaard
Marc Wolinsky and Barry C. Skovgaard

$10,000 to $24,999
Anonymous
Mary Lu Bilek, Esq. and Aaron R. Marcu, Esq.
Susan Langsan Black
Thomas M. Cerabino
Nan and Rich Davis

William R. Dougherty, Esq. and Tara
Dougherty

Matthew S. Furman, Esq. and Judith B. Hecker
Linda C. Goldstein, Esq. and Guy S. Manuel
Elaine P. Golin, Esq.
David J. Greenwald Esq.
Noah J. Hanft, Esq. and Dora B. Hanft
John L. Hardiman, Esq. and Donna E.

Hardiman
Jeffrey L. Kessler, Esq. and Regina D. Kessler
Daniel F. Kolb, Esq. and Ann C. Kolb
Jennifer L. Kroman, Esq. and David J.

Wermuth, Esq.
Charles and Joan Lazarus
Susan B. Lindenaurer and Art  Lindenauer
Jonathan M. Moses, Esq. and Abigail Y. Moses
Clare O'Brien, Esq. and  Peter M. Taubman, Esq.
Robert M. Rubin
Bart R. Schwartz Esq.
Robert C. and Elizabeth Sheehan
Jill and Jeremy Temkin
Peter W. Williamson

$5,000 to $9,999
Anonymous
Rosemary T. Berkery, Esq. and Robert J.

Hausen, Esq.
Jonine L. Bernstein, PhD and Randy M.

Mastron, Esq.
Elizabeth J. Bower, Esq. and Jerome C.

Washington
Alex Verbin Chachkes, Esq.
Pamela R. Chepiga, Esq. and Michael J.

Chepiga, Esq.
Gregory P. Copeland, Esq.
William G. Crudup
Joseph P. Cunningham, Esq.
Douglas F. Curtis, Esq. and Michaeline Curtis
Mary J. Eaton, Esq.
Debra Zarlin Edelman, Esq. and Scott

Alexander Edelman, Esq.
Hanna Eskin
Robert A. Fippinger, Esq. and Ann F. Kaplan
John L. Gardiner, Esq. and Julia Peck
Steven J. Gartner, Esq. and Donna S. Gartner
Bess Thrope Goldring, Esq. and Stuart J.

Goldring, Esq.
Mark P. Goodman, Esq.
Jason M. Halper Esq.
Jonathan H. Hatch, Esq.
James D. Herschlein, Esq. and Marilyn

Herschlein
Patricia M. Hynes, Esq. and Roy L. Reardon, Esq.
David G. Januszewski, Esq. and Kim

Januszewski
Kristine M. Koren, Esq.
Janet Mardfin
Edith S. McBean
J. Kevin McCarthy, Esq.
Thomas C. Meriam, Esq. and Susan Meriam
Satoru Murase, Esq.
John H. O'Connor, Esq.
Vincent Pagano, Jr., Esq. and Pam Pagano
Louise M. Parent, Esq. and John P. Casaly, Esq.
Charles C. Platt Esq.
Pearl Polifka, Esq. and Robert Polifka, Esq.
Richard A. Rothman, Esq. and Melissa S.

Rothman, Esq.
Susan Brooks Ruskin, Esq. and Bradley I.

Ruskin, Esq.
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Miles N. Ruthberg, Esq. and Catherine
Schreiber

William D. Savitt, Esq.
Frederick P. Schaffer, Esq. and Barbara Schatz
Larry Scheinfeld
Jennifer M. Schneck, Esq.
Paul T. Schnell, Esq. and Joanne W. Schnell
David E. Shaw, PhD and Beth Shaw
Jennifer S. Smith, Esq. and Mark Smith
Esta E. Stecher, Esq.
Christine A. Varney, Esq. and Thomas J.

Graham
Susan N. Wagner
Jonathan B. Whitney, Esq. and Janine S.

Whitney
Lawrence E. Wieman, Esq.
Peter S. Wilson, Esq.

$1,000 to $4,999
Stewart D. Aaron Esq.
Anonymous
Noreen Weiss Adler, Esq. and Derek J. T.

Adler, Esq.
David D. Almroth, Esq.
Barry J. Alperin
Howard S. Altarescu, Esq.
Catherine Amirfar, Esq.
Stephen F. Arcano, Esq. and Anne Sargent

Arcano, Esq.
Robin Shelby Arditi, Esq. and Ralph R.

Arditi, Esq.
Clifford H. Aronson, Esq. and Amy B. Aronson
Diane and John H. Asiel
Peter A. Atkins, Esq. and Laurie Atkins
Yvette R. Austin-Smith
Karen Backus and Alan B. Goldberg
Omi Bangdel
Roland Barral, Esq. and Lisa Principe
William D. Becker, Esq.
Christopher D. Belelieu Esq.
Judith E. Belsky, MD
Rodman W. Benedict Esq.
Sanjay Benegal
Joan L. Beranbaum, Esq.
Max W. Berger, Esq.
Vineet Bhatia, Esq. and Laura Bhatia
Peter A. Bicks, Esq. and Linda D. Bicks
Steven M. Bierman, Esq. and Jerrilyn Fleisher
Lewis Black
Benjamin D. Bleiberg, Esq.
Helen Bodian and Roger E. Alcaly
Jacqueline L. Bonneau, Esq.
Charles W. Bradley, Esq. and Dolores C. Bradley
Marian L. Brancaccio, Esq.
Garth W. Bray, Esq. and Kathryn H. Baxter
Adam R. Brebner, Esq.
K. Mallory Brennan, Esq.
Robert M. Browne
Lara Samet Buchwald, Esq.
Anne Danzey Burnham, Esq.
Michael H. Byowitz, Esq. and Ruth Holzer-

Byowitz
Paulino Cabrera and Martha P. Gonzalez
Joanne W. Cannella, Esq. and Nicholas M.

Cannella, Esq.
Michelle Carpentier, Esq. and Charles S.

Jacob, Esq.
John K. Carroll III, Esq. and Elizabeth Carroll
William F. Cavanaugh, Jr., Esq. and Mary

Ellen Cavanaugh

Sarah L. Cave, Esq. and John W. Cave
Wai L. Chan, Esq. and  Duncan Murdoch
Lawrence N. Chanen, Esq.
C. Michael Chitwood, Esq.
Lisa Elaine Cleary, Esq.
Eric L. Cochran, Esq. and Stacy S. Cochran
Dorothy Soranno Coco, MD and Joseph A.

Coco, Esq.
Sarah E. Cogan, Esq. and Douglas H. Evans, Esq.
Dennis O. Cohen, Esq.
Lori L. Cohen, Esq. and Christopher H. Rothko
Joel M. Cohen, Esq. and Karyn L. Zieve
Irwin Bernard Cohen, Esq.
Marianna Ponns Cohen
J. Peter Coll, Jr., Esq. 
Barbara S. B. Collins
Margaret A. Conklin, Esq.
Anne M. Connell and Kenneth A. French
Christopher P. Conniff, Esq. and Susan D.

Conniff
Gregory W. Conway, Esq. and Karen F. Conway
Roger A. Cooper, Esq. and Samira Kawash
Sean F. Corrigan, Esq. and Karen Corrigan
Amelia A. Cottrell, Esq.
David A. Crichlow, Esq.
James Wilson Dabney, Esq.
Gabriel P. Dalporto
Debra A. Dandeneau, Esq. and Jeffrey

Matchen
George A. Davidson, Esq. and Annette L.

Davidson
Mark E. Davidson, Esq.
David H. de Weese
John E. Dean
Jessica K. Delbaum, Esq.
Henry J. DePippo, Esq. and Kathleen C.

DePippo
Susan F. DiCicco, Esq. and Robert C.

Fermann, Esq.
Sue A. Dillport, Esq.
Rose F. DiMartino, Esq.
Qiao Dong
Lois Donnelly
Timothy W. Donovan, Esq.
Lucy C. Dougherty Esq.
Margaret H. Douglas-Hamilton, Esq.
Sean C. Doyle, Esq.
Morris D. Dunn, Esq. and Jill L. Dunn
Ryan J. Dzierniejko, Esq.
Joshua T. Ebersole, Esq.
Paul M. Eckles, Esq.
Elizabeth M. Ehrenfeld
Martin Elias
Pamela L. Endreny, Esq. and Ray Endreny
Jose A. Esteves, Esq.
Curran B. Estreich
Daniel S. Moretti, Esq. and Mary Beth Evans
Sebastian L. Fain, Esq.
Natasha Friedrichs Fapohunda, Esq.
Steven L. Fasman, Esq. and Carol G. Fasman
Luciana Fato, Esq.
Andrew M. Faulkner, Esq. and Emily A.

Fraenkel
Ellen L. Federman-Conklin
Warren L. Feldman, Esq.
Michael A. Feldstein, Esq.
Cynthia Fernandez Lumermann, Esq.
Harvey S. Feuerstein, Esq. and Audrey M.

Feuerstein
Stuart M. Finkelstein, Esq. and Beth Finkelstein

Edward J. Finley II, Esq. and David K. Gillis, Esq.
Stephen G. Foresta, Esq.
Melissa B. Francis, Esq. and David Mackler, Esq.
Jonathan L. Frank, Esq. and Janis Dardick-Frank
Michael I. Frankel, Esq. and Joan M. Frankel, Esq.
Fabrizio Freda
Eric J. Friedman, Esq. and Lori O. Friedman
Barbara T. Friedman, Esq.
Matthew M. Friestedt, Esq. and Leigh Ernst

Friestedt
Matthew E. Funk, Esq.
Peter J. Fusco, Esq.
David R. Gelfand, Esq. and Katherine M.

Gelfand
Marie L. Gibson, Esq.
Franklin M. Gittes, Esq. and Marie H. Gittes
Steven R. Glaser, Esq.
Cynthia R. Leder, Esq. and Jeffrey I. Glekel, Esq.
Amy Glickman, Esq. and Andrew P.

Kuritzkes, Esq.
Jay M. Goffman, Esq. and Susan Goffman
Bruce J. Goldner, Esq.
David J. Goldschmidt, Esq. and Ellen

Goldschmidt
Willis J. Goldsmith, Esq. and Marilynn J.

Goldsmith
Hector Gonzalez, Esq. and Aimee E. Gonzalez
Julie R. Gorlam, Esq.
Elaine Gould and David Gould
Robert M. Grass, Esq.
Ward A. Greenberg, Esq. and Marlene Van

Dyk Greenberg
Nathaniel J. Greene, Esq.
William A. Groll, Esq.
Joan B. Gross, Esq. and Stuart J. Gross, Esq.
Marshall B. Grossman, Esq. and Marlene B.

Grossman
Morton E. Grosz, Esq.
Christopher J. Gunther, Esq. and Alice M.

Gunther
Rachel Haber and Ari M. Mentzel
Eric B. Halper, Esq.
Patricia G. Hammes, Esq.
Sean M. Hanifin, Esq.
Shriram Harid, Esq.
Philip H. Harris, Esq. and Judith S. Grossman
Eileen B. Heitzler, Esq. and Robert Steingut, Esq.
Robert E. Helpern, Esq. and Jacqueline E.

Helpern
Matthew P. Hendrickson, Esq. and Karen

Hendrickson
David C. Hepp, Esq.
Connor and Brad Herman
Angela K. Herring, Esq.
Tracy Richelle High, Esq.
David G. Hille, Esq. and Marcella Hille
Michele S. Hirshman, Esq. and Russell G.

Pearce, Esq.
Jon A. Hlafter, Esq.
Crystal K. Ho, CFP
Michael K. Hoffman, Esq.
Craig D. Holleman, Esq. and Vicki Z. Holleman
Steven L. Holley, Esq.
Katharine A. Homans and Patterson Sims
Wade S. Hooker, Jr, Esq. and Susan L. Hooker
Blake B. Horn, Esq.
Ralph P. Huber, Esq.
Elizabeth A. Hurry and Thomas R. Warren
Mel M. Immergut, Esq. and Barbara Lyne
J. Eric Ivester, Esq.
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Andrew Jacobsen, Esq.
Cheryl A. James, Esq.
Jesse J. Jenner, Esq. and Tyler W. Jenner
Gaurav Jetley
Richard T. Joffe, Esq.
Stephen M. Juris, Esq.
Moez M. Kaba and Bjorn R. Lundberg
Joshua Kalish, Esq.
Stacy J. Kanter, Esq. and Eric M. Kornblau, Esq.
Patricia Eichenbaum Karetzky, PhD
Daniel E. Katcher, Esq. and Michal B. Katcher
Frances R. Katz
David N. Kelley, Esq.
Beth A. Kern and Jonathan S. Kern
Louis B. Kimmelman, Esq. and Joy B.

Kimmelman
Michael A. Kleinman, Esq.
Alan M. Knoll, Esq.
Phyllis G. Korff, Esq.
John G. Korman, Esq.
Edward Kovelsky
Brian D. Krause, Esq.
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Independent Auditor's Report 

Board of Directors  
The Legal Aid Society 

Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Legal Aid Society, which comprise the 
statement of financial position as of June 30, 2017, and the related statements of activities, functional 
expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended and the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor�s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity�s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity�s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Opinion  
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of The Legal Aid Society as of June 30, 2017, and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

RSM US LLP
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Report on Summarized Comparative Information 
We have previously audited The Legal Aid Society�s 2016 financial statements, and we expressed an 
unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated November 21, 2016. In 
our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2016, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it 
has been derived. 

New York, New York 
November 8, 2017 
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June 30, 2017
(With Summarized Financial Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2016)

2017 2016
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 33,300,932  $     24,840,156  $     
Receivables from grants, governmental contracts, and other 38,181,221         35,388,324         
Investments, at fair value 8,859,340           8,388,692           
Deferred charges and other assets 5,563,289           5,210,326           
Property and equipment, at cost, net  5,292,176           4,257,299           

Total assets 91,196,958  $     78,084,797  $     

Liabilities and Net Asset (Deficiency)

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 3,188,235  $       1,601,362  $       
Accrued payroll and other employee expenses 37,880,341         29,314,984         
Program advances 181,030              4,323                  
Accrued postretirement health and benefits cost 47,047,169         47,853,880         
Pension liability 20,466,898         29,691,179         
Deferred lease incentives and lease obligations 18,969,335         17,074,401         

Total liabilities 127,733,008       125,540,129       

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets:
Unrestricted (42,217,546)        (53,161,802)        
Temporarily restricted 3,615,473           3,640,447           
Permanently restricted 2,066,023           2,066,023           

Total net asset (deficiency) (36,536,050)        (47,455,332)        

Total liabilities and net asset (deficiency) 91,196,958  $     78,084,797  $     

See notes to financial statements.

The Legal Aid Society

Statement of Financial Position
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The Legal Aid Society

Statement of Activities
Year Ended June 30, 2017
(With Summarized Financial Information for the Year Ended June 30, 2016)

2016

Summarized
Temporarily Permanently Comparative

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total Total
Support and revenue:

Program support and revenue:
Criminal Defense Practice 157,411,386  $    221,697  $        -$                  157,633,083  $         160,074,752  $      
Juvenile Rights Practice 43,389,629          217,648            -                    43,607,277              43,031,074            
Civil Practice 46,292,176          2,715,092         -                    49,007,268              40,993,270            

Contributions (net of direct expenses 
related to the benefit) 14,629,822          185,466            -                    14,815,288              13,612,136            

Return (loss) on investments, net 943                     485,554            -                    486,497                   (108,476)                
Court awards 216,154               -                    -                    216,154                   85,335                   
Other income 205                     -                    -                    205                          30,366                   
Net assets released from restrictions -

satisfaction of program and time restrictions 3,850,431            (3,850,431)        -                    -                           -                         
Total support and revenue before

in-kind contributions 265,790,746        (24,974)             -                    265,765,772             257,718,457          

Operating expenses:
Program services:

Criminal Defense Practice 152,406,427        -                    -                    152,406,427             147,546,554          
Juvenile Rights Practice 43,648,018          -                    -                    43,648,018              41,098,932            
Civil Practice 58,025,671          -                    -                    58,025,671              43,367,843            

Total program services before
in-kind contributions 254,080,116        -                    -                    254,080,116             232,013,329          

     
Supporting services: -                    -                    

Administrative expenses 14,398,169          -                    -                    14,398,169              13,763,393            
Fundraising expenses 877,532               -                    -                    877,532                   884,321                 

Total supporting services 15,275,701          -                    -                    15,275,701              14,647,714            
 

Total operating expenses before
in-kind contributions 269,355,817        -                    -                    269,355,817             246,661,043          

Results of operations (3,565,071)          (24,974)             -                    (3,590,045)               11,057,414            

In-kind contributions:
Revenue from legal services 86,683,863          -                    -                    86,683,863              86,659,097            
Program expenses from legal services (86,683,863)        -                    -                    (86,683,863)             (86,659,097)           

Total in-kind contributions -                      -                    -                    -                           -                         

Change in net assets before pension
liability adjustment (3,565,071)          (24,974)             -                    (3,590,045)               11,057,414            

Pension and other postretirement-related changes:
Other than net periodic costs 14,509,327          -                    -                    14,509,327              (19,027,193)           

Change in net assets 10,944,256          (24,974)             -                    10,919,282              (7,969,779)             

Net assets (deficiency):
Beginning (53,161,802)        3,640,447         2,066,023         (47,455,332)             (39,485,553)           

Ending (42,217,546)  $    3,615,473  $     2,066,023  $     (36,536,050)  $         (47,455,332)  $       

See notes to financial statements.

2017
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Year Ended June 30, 2017
(with summarized financial information for the year ended June 30, 2016)

2017 2016
Cash flows from operating activities:

Change in net assets 10,919,282  $     (7,969,779)  $      
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash provided by 

(used in) operating activities:
Amortization of deferred lease incentives 1,553,442           (712,967)             
Amortization of deferred lease obligations 341,492              65,557                
Depreciation and amortization 1,128,657           974,504              
Realized and unrealized (gain) loss on investments (300,859)             176,391              
Pension and other postretirement-related changes:

Other than net periodic costs (14,509,327)        19,027,193         
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Increase in receivables from grants, governmental contracts,
  and other (2,792,897)          (6,574,015)          
Increase in deferred charges and other assets (352,963)             (4,264,015)          
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,586,873           (568,592)             
Increase in accrued payroll and other employee expenses 8,565,357           718,749              
Increase (decrease) in program advances 176,707              (684,510)             
Increase in accrued postretirement health and benefits cost 4,560,085           2,693,645           
Decrease in pension liability (81,750)               (2,892,368)          

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 10,794,099         (10,207)               

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of investments 1,141,828           1,376,266           
Purchase of investments (1,311,617)          (6,424,379)          
Purchases of property and equipment (2,163,534)          (902,991)             

Net cash used in investing activities (2,333,323)          (5,951,104)          

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8,460,776           (5,961,311)          

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning 24,840,156         30,801,467         

Ending 33,300,932  $     24,840,156  $     

See notes to financial statements.

The Legal Aid Society

Statement of Cash Flows
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The Legal Aid Society 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

Note 1. Organization 
The Legal Aid Society (the Society) is a not-for-profit corporation founded in 1876 that provides legal 
services to the indigent of New York City through a number of operating practices. The Criminal Defense 
practice, which provides the majority of trial level public defender services in New York City, as well as the 
Criminal Appeals and Parole Revocation defense programs, are financed through contracts with the City 
and the State of New York. The Juvenile Rights practice is financed principally through a contract with the 
Office of Court Administration of the State of New York. The Civil practice relies on contracts with 
agencies of the City and the State of New York and the federal government, as well as on financial 
support from the public, including foundations, law firms, corporations and individuals. 
 
Although the Society is not a governmental institution, it receives significant program revenue and other 
support through government contracts that are entered into on a periodic basis and are cancelable at any 
time. As a general rule, those contracts provide revenue to cover cash expenses of funded programs. 
 
In its fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 (FY17), the Society had an operating deficit (excess of expenses, 
other than post-retirement charges, over revenues) of $3.6 million, and an increase in working capital 
(excess of current assets over current liabilities) of $0.9 million (from $34.3 million at June 30, 2016 to 
$35.2 million at June 30, 2017). These results include one-time payments totaling $7.6 million to union 
and nonunion staff, which were driven by collective bargaining with the Association of Legal Aid Attorneys 
and SEIU Local 1199 (representing certain employees other than attorneys). The Society determined that 
it was able to make the one-time payments while still maintaining a level of working capital sufficient for its 
operations.  Without the one-time payments, the Society would have had an operating surplus of $4.0 
million and an increase in working capital of $8.5 million in FY17. 
 
The Society�s statement of financial position at June 30, 2017, shows cash and cash equivalents of $33.3 
million. It also shows a net asset deficiency (excess of total liabilities over total assets) of $36.5 million, an 
improvement of $10.9 million from June 30, 2016. The net asset deficiency results from the actuarial 
determinations of (i) the future obligations of the Society to pay postretirement health and benefit costs 
that incorporate projected short-term trends in healthcare cost increases and (ii) the future benefit 
obligations under the Society�s �frozen� defined benefit pension plan which, like many such plans around 
the country, is underfunded due to market conditions and the current low interest rate environment. On 
December 14, 2016, the Society�s Board of Directors adopted a plan designed to reduce the net asset 
deficiency in the Society�s defined benefit pension plan to zero over 15 years. 
 

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
Basis of accounting: The financial statements of the Society have been prepared on the accrual basis 
of accounting. In the statement of financial position, assets and liabilities are presented in order of liquidity 
or conversion to cash and their maturity resulting in the use of cash, respectively. 
 
Financial statement presentation: The classification of a not-for-profit organization’s net assets and its 
support and revenue is based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. The amounts 
for each of three classes of net assets - unrestricted, temporarily restricted and permanently restricted - 
are required to be shown in a statement of financial position and the amounts of change in each of those 
classes of net assets be displayed in a statement of activities. 
 
The net assets of the Society and changes therein are classified and reported as follows: 
 
Unrestricted: Net assets resulting from contributions and other inflows of assets whose use by the 
Society is not subject to donor restrictions. Unrestricted amounts may be designated by the board of 
directors to cover any purposes determined by the Society. 
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The Legal Aid Society 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Temporarily restricted: Net assets resulting from contributions and other inflows of assets whose use by 
the Society is limited by donor-imposed stipulations that either expire by passage of time or can be 
fulfilled and removed by actions of the Society pursuant to those stipulations. When such stipulations end 
or are fulfilled, such temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets. 
 
Permanently restricted: Net assets resulting from contributions and other inflows of assets whose use 
by the Society is limited by donor-imposed stipulations that neither expire by passage of time nor can be 
fulfilled or otherwise removed by actions of the Society. 
 
Use of estimates: In preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP), management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosures of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenue and expenses during the 
reported period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents: For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Society considers all 
highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents, 
except for such investments purchased by the Society’s investment managers as part of their long-term 
investment strategies. 
 
Collectibility of receivables: All receivables are due for collections within one year. 
 
Investments: Investments in equity and debt securities are stated at their fair values. Investment return is 
allocated among unrestricted and temporarily restricted net assets, based on donor restrictions or the 
absence thereof. Interest, dividends, and net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments are 
included in investment return in the statement of activities. 
 
Fair value: The Society follows Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC) 820-10, Fair Value Measurements, which provides a framework for measuring fair 
value under generally accepted accounting principles and applies to all financial instruments that are 
being measured and reported on a fair value basis. Accordingly, the Society classifies all its investments 
as Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3, depending on whether they can be valued by reference to published 
market prices.  
 
Property and equipment: Purchases of property and equipment in excess of $10,000 per unit are 
capitalized. Depreciation of property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method and 
charged to expense over the estimated useful lives of the assets, ranging primarily from three to ten 
years. Property and equipment acquired with certain government contract funds are recognized as 
expenses pursuant to the terms of the contract in which the government funding source retains ownership 
of the property. 
 
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the 
lease, whichever is shorter. 
 
Program advances: Program advances represent advances from third parties for services not yet 
performed as well as funds received from government agencies in which the funds have been allocated 
with the agency�s agreement to cover future expenditures. 
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The Legal Aid Society 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Court awards: Funds are awarded by the courts to the Society in certain non-Legal Aid cases in which 
there are remaining class action settlement funds. The amount of such awards in any given year cannot 
be estimated in advance because these awards are dependent on whether there are such residual 
settlement funds in particular cases and whether the Society is designated as a recipient. Therefore, such 
revenue is recognized upon receipt. 
 
Revenue and support: Contracts awarded by governmental agencies are recognized as revenue in the 
unrestricted net asset class as the related services are performed.  
 
The Society records as revenue the following types of contributions when they are received 
unconditionally, at fair value: cash, promises to give, certain contributed services and gifts of long-lived 
assets and other assets. Conditional contributions, including cost reimbursement grants, are recognized 
as support when the conditions on which they depend have been substantially met. 
 
• Contributions and promises to give are recorded as revenue when either cash is received or when 

donors make an enforceable promise to give. Contributions and promises to give are classified either 
as unrestricted, temporarily restricted or permanently restricted support, based on the donor’s intent. 
 

• Contributed services provided by attorneys on a pro bono basis are recorded as revenue and 
expenses at fair value, based on the attorneys’ average billing rates. 

 
A number of individuals have made a contribution of their time to serve on the Society’s board of 
directors. The value of their contributed time is not reflected in the financial statements. 
 
Tax-exempt status: The Society is qualified as a Section 501(c)(3) tax-exempt organization under 
Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (the IRC) and, accordingly, is not subject to federal income 
taxes. As a not-for-profit organization, the Society is also exempt from New York State and New York City 
sales and income taxes. The Society has been classified as a publicly supported charitable organization 
under Section 509(a)(1) of the IRC and qualifies for the maximum charitable contribution deduction for 
donors. 
 
Management evaluated the Society�s income tax positions and concluded that the Society had taken no 
uncertain income tax positions that require adjustments or disclosures to the financial statements. 
Generally, the Society is not subject to income tax examinations by the U.S. federal, state or local tax 
authorities for years before 2014, which is the standard statute of limitations look-back period. 
 
Functional allocation of expenses: The costs of providing the various programs and other activities 
have been summarized in the statement of activities. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated to 
the programs and supporting services benefited. 
 
Concentration of credit risk: Financial instruments which potentially subject the Society to a 
concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. At various times, the Society 
has cash deposits at financial institutions that exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
insurance limits. The Society has not experienced any losses on these accounts. 
 
Prior-year summarized comparative information: The accompanying financial statements include 
certain prior-year summarized comparative information in total, but not by net asset class or functional 
expense classification. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly, 
such information should be read in conjunction with the Society’s financial statements for the year ended 
June 30, 2016, from which the summarized information was derived. 
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The Legal Aid Society 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
Subsequent events: The Society evaluates events occurring after the date of the financial statements to 
consider whether or not the impact of such events needs to be reflected or disclosed in the financial 
statements. Such evaluation is performed through the date the financial statements are available for 
issuance, which was November 8, 2017 for these financial statements. 
 
Recently issued accounting pronouncements: In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards 
Update (ASU) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), requiring an entity to 
recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or 
services to customers. The updated standard will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in 
U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective and permits the use of either a full retrospective or retrospective 
with cumulative effect transition method. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, which defers 
the effective date of ASU 2014-09 one year, making it effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
after December 15, 2018. The Society has not yet selected a transition method and is currently evaluating 
the effect that the standard will have on the financial statements. 
 
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The guidance in this ASU 
supersedes the leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new guidance, lessees are required to 
recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the statement of financial position for all leases with terms 
longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting 
the pattern of expense recognition in the statement of activities. The new standard is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Society 
is currently evaluating the impact of the pending adoption of the new standard on the financial 
statements. 
 
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-14, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Presentation of 
Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities. The amendments in this ASU make improvements to the 
information provided in financial statements and accompanying notes of not-for-profit entities. The 
amendments set forth the FASB�s improvements to net asset classification requirements and the 
information presented about a not-for-profit entity�s liquidity, financial performance, and cash flows. The 
ASU will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. Earlier adoption is permitted. 
Management has not evaluated the impact of this ASU on the financial statements. 
 
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of 
Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (A Consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force).  
The amendments in this ASU provide guidance reducing diversity in practice in how certain cash receipts 
and cash payments are presented and classified in the statement of cash flows. The ASU will be effective 
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2019.  Earlier adoption is permitted. Management has not evaluated the impact of this 
ASU on the financial statements. 
 
In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, Compensation — Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): 
Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost, to 
improve guidance related to the presentation of defined benefit costs. Under the new guidance, an 
employer is required to report the service cost component in the same line item or items as other 
compensation costs arising from services rendered by the pertinent employees during the period. The 
ASU also provides guidance related to the presentation of the other components of net benefit cost. The 
ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within annual 
periods beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted. Management has not evaluated 
the impact of this ASU on the financial statements. 
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The Legal Aid Society 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

Note 3. Investments 
The fair value of the Society’s endowment and other investments consists of the following: 
 

2017 2016

Cash equivalents  1,013,193  $     5,087,429  $     

Mutual funds 3,675,099         2,923,065         
U.S. fixed income 4,171,048         378,198            

8,859,340  $     8,388,692  $     

 
 
The return (loss) on endowment and other investments shown in the accompanying statement of 
activities consists of the following: 
 

2017 2016

Interest and dividends    227,654  $        87,849  $          
Realized gain 99,814              46,614              
Unrealized gain (loss) 201,045            (223,114)           
Investment fees  (42,016)             (19,825)             

486,497  $        (108,476)  $       

 
 
The Society’s investments at June 30, 2017 and 2016 were held at one financial institution. 
 

Note 4. Fair Value 
The fair value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values. 
Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be classified and disclosed in one of the following 
three categories: 
 
Level 1: Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets, such as the 

New York Stock Exchange. 
 
Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 including quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, 

quoted prices in less active markets, or other observable inputs that can be corroborated by 
observable market data. Level 2 also includes derivative contracts whose value is determined 
using a pricing model with observable market inputs or can be derived principally from or 
corroborated by observable market data. 

 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity for financial instruments whose 

value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar 
techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant 
management judgment or estimation; Level 3 also includes observable inputs for nonbinding 
single-dealer quotes not corroborated by observable market data. 
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Note 4. Fair value (Continued) 
Investments and commercial paper stated at fair value at June 30 are as follows: 
 

2017 2016

Cash equivalents 1,013,193  $     5,087,429  $     

Mutual funds:
U.S. large-cap equities 1,376,427         944,946            
U.S. mid-cap/small-cap equities -                    189,875            
International equities 1,345,115         919,160            
Core fixed income securities 953,557            869,084            

U.S. fixed income 4,171,048         378,198            
Subtotal - investments 8,859,340         8,388,692         

Commercial paper(a) 22,100,000       11,100,000       
30,959,340  $   19,488,692  $   

 
 
(a) Commercial paper is classified as cash equivalent on the statement of financial position. 
 
The Society classifies all its investments as Level 1, except for U.S. fixed income which is classified as 
Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.   
 
Mutual funds are valued at the net asset value (NAV) of shares held by the Society at year-end.   
 
U.S. fixed income is valued based on the last reported bid price provided by broker-dealers. 
 
Commercial paper is a short-term unsecured promissory note issued by creditworthy corporations and 
banks. It earns competitive, market-determined yields/rates and is traded on all major exchanges. The 
commercial paper was issued by the financial institution at June 30, 2017 and 2016. 
 

Note 5. Contributions 

Contributions consisted of the following for each fiscal year: 
 

2017 2016

Contributions 10,947,138  $   10,672,319  $   
Benefits and special events 4,006,682         3,157,005         
Bequests  294,869            108,871            

      15,248,689         13,938,195   
Less related direct expenses (433,401)           (326,059)           

14,815,288  $   13,612,136  $   
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Note 6. Property and Equipment 
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are summarized as follows: 
 

2017 2016

Property and leasehold improvements  $   16,643,049   15,960,996  $   

Furniture and equipment         2,291,270           2,291,270   
Computer and technology         1,545,079           3,915,697   
Mobile outreach van            146,936              146,936   

      20,626,334   22,314,899       
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization     (15,334,158)  (18,057,600)      

 $     5,292,176   4,257,299  $     

 

Note 7. Commitments 

As of June 30, 2017, annual future minimum lease payments, which exclude payments based on pass-
through expenses and escalations under non-cancelable operating leases for all of the Society’s facilities, 
are approximately as follows: 
 
Year ending June 30:

2018 18,100,000  $     

2019 18,900,000         
2020 19,300,000         
2021 19,600,000         
2022 19,900,000         
Thereafter 130,800,000       

226,600,000  $                                          
 
 
Several leases for office space contain escalation clauses related to the lessor’s real estate taxes, utilities 
and other building operating expenses. During fiscal 2017 and 2016, the Society recognized increased 
occupancy expenses for additional space taken within several locations. The rental expense was 
approximately $15,789,000 and $14,010,000 for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
 
The Society received net incentives from certain landlords for the purchase of furniture and equipment 
and leasehold improvements.  Deferred lease incentive balance was $6,515,363 and $4,961,921 as of 
June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and is included in deferred lease obligations and lease incentives 
in the accompanying statement of financial position. Deferred lease incentives are being amortized over 
the term of the respective leases. 
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Note 8. Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 
Temporarily restricted net assets are recorded throughout the course of the year on the statement of 
activities. Temporarily restricted net assets are available for the following purposes at June 30: 
 

2017 2016

Civil Practice 306,502  $        514,466  $        

Juvenile Rights Practice            356,755              631,305   

Criminal Defense Practice            810,822           1,013,619   
Endowment interest         1,808,406           1,322,857   
Other            332,988              158,200   

3,615,473  $     3,640,447  $     

 
 
The total of these net assets released from restriction due to satisfaction of time and purpose restrictions 
amounted to $3,850,431 and $4,319,897 during the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
 

Note 9. Permanently Restricted Net Assets 

The Society’s endowment consists of 14 individual funds established for a variety of purposes. The 
endowments include only donor-restricted endowment funds. The Society’s board of directors interprets 
the New York law as requiring that the Society classify the original value of gifts donated to the 
permanent endowment as permanently restricted net assets. Earnings on donor-restricted funds are 
classified separately as temporarily restricted net assets, until those amounts are appropriated for 
expenditure by the Society in a manner consistent with its spending policies pursuant to the donor 
restrictions. 
 
The board of directors has delegated authority to its Finance and Investment Committee to oversee the 
investment of the endowment assets with the objective of achieving capital growth and income stability. 
On an annual basis and consistent with its spending policy, the Society decides whether to appropriate 
endowment funds for expenditure as part of its annual budgeting process. There were no appropriations 
in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. 
 
On a quarterly basis, the Finance and Investment Committee monitors the performance of the qualified 
investment professionals, the performance of the endowment and the objectives for and use of the 
earnings on the endowment to ensure that these are consistent with the directions of the donors and the 
mission of the Society. At least once a year, the Finance and Investment Committee reports to the board 
on these issues. 
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Note 9. Permanently Restricted Net Assets (Continued) 
Changes in endowment net assets for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 consist of:  
 

Temporarily Permanently
Restricted Restricted Total

Endowment net assets, at June 30, 2015 1,450,947  $     2,066,023  $     3,516,970  $     

Investment return
Investment loss (128,090)           -                    (128,090)           

Total investment return (128,090)           -                    (128,090)           

Endowment net assets, at June 30, 2016 1,322,857         2,066,023         3,388,880         

Investment return
Investment loss 485,549            -                    485,549            

Total investment loss 485,549            -                    485,549            

Endowment net assets, at June 30, 2017 1,808,406  $     2,066,023  $     3,874,429  $     

 

Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans 

All current employees of the Society are covered either by a defined contribution plan or by a multi-
employer pension plan. In addition, certain current management and nonunion employees who began 
their employment with the Society prior to December 1, 2004 are covered by the Society’s retirement plan 
(the Retirement Plan), a defined benefit plan.  
 
Benefits under the Retirement Plan are generally based upon years of service and the salary of the 
employee. The assets of the Retirement Plan consist primarily of mutual funds. Effective July 1, 1999, the 
Society amended its Retirement Plan to include a cash balance feature and a lump-sum option. On 
November 30, 2004, the Society froze the accumulation of Retirement Plan benefits as part of its financial 
restructuring. The Retirement Plan was replaced by a defined contribution plan effective December 1, 
2004. 
 
Because of the Retirement Plan�s underfunding, the Society made contributions of $2,865,231 and 
$6,005,844 in fiscal 2017 and 2016, respectively.  The Society has developed a Board approved plan for 
annual funding contributions to eliminate the Retirement Plan�s underfunding over a 15 year period, 
beginning with FY17.  
 
The Society made contributions to the defined contribution plan for nonunion employees of approximately 
$2,335,000 and $2,219,000 in fiscal 2017 and 2016, respectively.  
 
Pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement, the Society made contributions related to the Association 
of Legal Aid Attorneys defined contribution plan, which covers unionized staff attorneys, of $5,621,000 
and $5,299,000 in fiscal 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
 
Pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement that covers a number of its employees, the Society made 
contributions related to the Service Employees International Union, Local 1199 pension fund, which is a 
national multi-employer pension plan, of approximately $2,658,000 and $2,354,000 in fiscal 2017 and 
2016, respectively. 
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued) 
The risks of participating in a multi-employer plan are different from single employer plans in the following 
respects: 
 
(a) Assets contributed to the multi-employer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to 

employees of other participating employers. 
 

(b) If a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be 
borne by the remaining participating employers. 
 

(c) If the Society stops participating in the multi-employer plan, and continues in business, the Society 
could be required to pay an amount, referred to as withdrawal liability, based on the unfunded status 
of the plan.  

 
The legal name of the pension fund is 1199SEIU Health Care Employees Pension Fund. The 
EIN/Pension Plan Number is 13-3604862/001. The most recent Pension Protection Act (PPA) zone status 
available in 2016, 2015 and 2014 are for the plan’s year-end at December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively. For each of these years, the plan�s PPA zone status is �Green Zone�. The zone status is 
based on information that the Society received from the plan and is certified by the plan’s actuary.  
Among other factors, plans in the red zone are generally less than 65 percent funded, plans in the yellow 
zone are less than 80% funded, and plans in the green zone are at least 80 percent funded.  The funded 
percentages for these years are 83.7% and 87.5%, respectively. The expiration date of the collective 
bargaining agreement requiring contributions is September 30, 2018. There is no funding improvement 
plan or rehabilitation plan that has been implemented or pending. 
 
The Society�s participation in the plan for the annual period ended December 31, is outlined in the table 
below.  
 

Employer Greater Than
Year Contributions 5% of Total

2016 2,427,974         No
2015 1,999,312         No

 
 
The Society also has other postretirement benefits plans covering substantially all its employees. The 
Society funds its postretirement benefits other than pensions on a pay-as-you-go basis. Such benefits 
consist of medical, dental, and vision premiums. 
 
In addition, the Society accounts for long-term disability benefits in accordance with ASC Topic 712, 
Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits. The costs recognized for long-term disability premiums in fiscal 
years 2017 and 2016 amounted to approximately $779,000 and $803,000, respectively. The 
corresponding costs recognized for the change in the long-term benefit obligation for healthcare in fiscal 
2017 and 2016 is $202,000 and ($208,000), respectively. 
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued) 

2017 2016 2017 2016

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at 

 beginning of year 86,158,686  $       81,447,069  $       47,853,880  $       33,633,487  $       

Service cost -                       -                       2,223,179             1,126,993             

Interest cost 2,866,844             3,302,292             1,939,146             1,585,710             

Plan participants’ contributions -                       -                       111,378               95,795                 

Special Termination Benefits -                       -                       21,000                 44,000                 

Actuarial (gain) loss (4,057,414)           6,463,658             (4,217,052)           12,085,842           

Benefits paid (5,511,347)           (5,054,333)           (884,362)              (717,947)              

Benefit obligation at 

end of year 79,456,769           86,158,686           47,047,169           47,853,880           

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at 

 beginning of year 56,467,507           56,363,967           -                       -                       

Actual return on plan assets 6,117,733             (242,923)              -                       -                       

Employer contributions 2,865,231             6,005,844             772,984               622,152               

Plan participants’ contributions -                       -                       111,378               95,795                 

Benefits paid  (5,511,347)           (5,054,333)           (884,362)              (717,947)              

Expenses paid (949,253)              (605,048)              -                       -                       

Fair value of plan assets 

at end of year 58,989,871           56,467,507           -                       -                       

Funded status at end of year (20,466,898)  $     (29,691,179)  $     (47,047,169)  $     (47,853,880)  $     

Plan Benefits Health and Benefits

PostretirementRetirement
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued) 

June 30, 2017 2016 2017 2016

Amounts recognized as liabilities
 in the statement of financial position (20,466,898)  $        (29,691,179)  $        (47,047,169)  $        (47,853,880)  $        

Amounts recognized as cumulative

 Changes in pension and other
 Postretirement costs other

 than net periodic costs:

Prior service cost -$                        -$                        34,010  $                91,793  $                

Net actuarial loss 31,068,945             40,211,476             18,560,531             23,869,544             
Net amount recognized 31,068,945  $         40,211,476  $         18,594,541  $         23,961,337  $         

Components of net benefit cost:

Components of net periodic

 benefit cost:

Service -$                        -$                        2,223,179  $           1,126,993  $           

Expense 860,000                  680,000                  -                          -                          

Interest 2,866,844               3,302,292               1,939,146               1,585,710               

Expected return on plan assets  (4,504,037)              (4,119,842)              -                          -                          

Special Termination Benefits -                          -                          21,000                    44,000                    

Amortization of prior service cost -                          -                          57,783                    57,783                    

Amortization of losses 3,560,674               3,251,026               1,091,961               501,311                  

Net periodic benefit cost 2,783,481               3,113,476               5,333,069               3,315,797               

Changes in pension and

 postretirement costs other than

 net periodic costs

Prior service credit -                          -                          (57,783)                   (57,783)                   

Net (gain) loss (9,142,531)              7,500,445               (5,309,013)              11,584,531             

Net changes in other than periodic cost (9,142,531)              7,500,445               (5,366,796)              11,526,748             

Net benefit cost (6,359,050)  $          10,613,921  $         (33,727)  $               14,842,545  $         

Postretirement

Plan Benefits Health and Benefits

Retirement
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued) 
During fiscal 2017, the mortality table was updated to the MP-2016 Mortality Table to reflect more recent 
data published by the Society of Actuaries. 
 
Weighted-average assumptions to determine benefit obligations at June 30: 
 

2017 2016 2017 2016

Discount rate 3.80% 3.45% 4.35% 3.90%

Retirement Postretirement
Plan Benefits Health and Benefits

 
 
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost at June 30: 
 

2017 2016 2017 2016

Discount rate 3.45% 4.25% 3.90% 4.90%
Expected return on plan assets 7.85% 7.65% N/A N/A

Plan Benefits Health and Benefits
Retirement Postretirement

 
 
The assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the 
healthcare plans. For measurement purposes, the assumed rates for future increases in healthcare, 
which is based on national trends, is 6.50% in 2018 and was 6.95% in 2017. The 6.50% rate in 2018 is 
expected to gradually decline to 4.75% in 2024. 
 
The effect of a one-percentage-point change in the healthcare cost trend rate on the year-end 
postretirement health benefit obligation and total service and interest cost components for the year ended 
June 30, 2017 is as follows: 
 

One- One-
Percentage- Percentage-

Point Point
Decrease Increase

Year-end postretirement health benefit obligation (8,927,000)  $    11,904,000  $   
Total of service and interest cost components (1,009,000)        1,437,000         
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)  
The following benefit payments which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be 
paid as follows: 
 

Postretirement
Retirement Health 

Plan Benefits Benefits
Year ending June 30:

2018 6,825,667$       852,000$          
2019 6,201,517         938,000            
2020 6,402,384         956,000            
2021 5,954,850         1,057,000         
2022 5,844,137         1,163,000         
2023 - 2027 26,597,212       7,609,000         

 
 
The Society has adopted a policy for the investment of the assets of the Retirement Plan, which is 
administered by, and may be altered by, the Retirement and Benefits Committee of the Society�s board of 
directors. The investment policy has been established to consider both the current and projected financial 
requirements of the Retirement Plan. The Retirement Plan relies on a total return strategy in which 
investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current 
yield (interest and dividends). The Retirement Plan uses a balanced asset allocation including both 
equity-based and fixed income investments to achieve its long-term objectives. Those objectives are: 
 
• Maximize return within reasonable and prudent levels of risk of loss of principal. 

• Maintain sufficient liquidity to meet benefits payment obligations on a timely basis. 
 
The portfolio approach for the Retirement Plan is to maintain a balance of approximately 60% in equities 
and 40% in fixed income. Equity securities include investments in mutual funds invested in large-, mid-, 
and small-cap companies located in the United States and internationally. Fixed income securities are 
comprised of mutual funds invested in low-risk interest-bearing investments.  
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)  
The fair value of the Retirement Plan’s investments at June 30, 2017 and 2016 (all of which are Level 1 � 
see Note 2), by asset category, are as follows: 
 

% %
2017 2016 2017 2016

Cash equivalents 2,378,223  $     5,376,443  $     4.0% 9.4%

Mutual funds:
Large-cap 17,798,720             16,168,847   30.2% 28.6%
Mid-cap 5,732,936                 4,955,831   9.7% 8.8%
Small-cap 3,528,327                 2,802,475   6.0% 5.0%
International 6,466,486                 5,802,094   11.0% 10.3%
Emerging markets 1,912,186                 1,861,209   3.2% 3.3%
Equity REITs 783,934                       823,553   1.3% 1.5%
Indexed trust fund 396,549                       406,658   0.7% 0.7%
Fixed income 19,992,510             18,270,397   33.9% 32.4%

58,989,871  $   56,467,507  $   100% 100%

Identical Assets (All Level 1)
in Active Markets for

Fair Value Using Quoted Prices 

 
 
Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value.  
 
Mutual funds: Valued at the net asset value held by the Retirement Plan at year-end.  
 
The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net 
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Plan believes that its valuation 
methods are appropriate and consistent with those of other market participants, the use of different 
methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a 
different fair value measurement at the reporting date. 
 

Note 11. Contingencies 

There are a number of pending legal actions against the Society which, in the opinion of management, 
will not result in material loss to the Society and no amounts have been accrued in the accompanying 
financial statements for such contingency. 
 
As of June 30, 2017, receivables from grants and governmental contracts include accrued revenue 
aggregating approximately $2,632,559 from unexecuted and/or unregistered contracts with the state/city 
of New York Agencies as of November 8, 2017. The ultimate realization of these contracts receivable is 
subject to the execution of these contracts by New York State and City of New York Agencies. However, 
management believes that the Society will ultimately collect these amounts as these are amounts due for 
services performed or expenditures incurred on recurring contracts with the New York State and City of 
New York Agencies.  
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Note 11. Contingencies (Continued) 
Certain grants and contracts are currently subject to and may be subject to audit by the funding sources. 
Such audits might result in disallowances of costs submitted for reimbursement. Management is of the 
opinion that such cost disallowances, if any, will not have a material effect on the accompanying financial 
statements. Accordingly, no amounts have been provided in the accompanying financial statements for 
such potential claims. 
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Aaron Ratoff, Georgia Rattray-Gray, Philip Rauch, Kai-lin Rausch, Ora Raymore-Kenlock, Natalie Rea, Katherine Redmon, Gretchen Reeser, Brandon Reim, Marcus Reina, Sara Reisberg, Alison Reisner, Brendan Relyea, Jane
Remler, Wendy Remy, Beth Rennekamp, Kenny Rey, Marie Reyes, Susan Reyes, Yadilza Reyes, Nooreen Reza, Alex Reznik, Alexandra Rhodd, Rania Riad, Victor Richards, Cassandra Richardson, Joseph Richardson, Robin
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Hadar, Kerry-Ann Stephen, Kenneth Stephens, Sade Stephenson, Daniel Stern, David Stern, Judith Stern, Susan Sternberg, Robert Stevenson, Gwnasia Stewart, Bess Stiffelman, Carolina Stiles, Barbara Stock, Jonathan
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Joy Wang, Nicholas Wanger, Shomari Ward, Cody Warner, Rosalyn Warren, Agnieszka Was, Jerry Washington, Marie Washington, Roy Wasserman, Steven Wasserman, Laura Waters, Senora Watkins, Joel Watson, Joshua
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